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Friday, June 30, 2017
--- On commencing at 9:07 a.m.

MS. DUFF:  Please be seated.
Preliminary Matters:


Good morning, everybody.  It's the second day -- third day of our hearing to Thunder Bay's application to set their rates effective May 1st, 2017.  I understand Board Staff circulated an updated hearing schedule, and we were just talking and reviewing that in the conference room prior to coming into the hearing today.

I understand that Board Staff has updated this based on people's revised estimates and that the way it reads right now we will definitely be finished today and we will conclude matters sometime this afternoon.

Mr. Vellone, have you had a chance to review this?  Do you have any opinions about what will happen after 2:40 today?

MR. VELLONE:  Sure.  Why don't we move to discussion on submissions and argument.  I have a proposal, which is that the applicant would file argument-in-chief in writing on Wednesday of next week, so that would give us the weekend to review the transcripts to make sure that all the evidence that came out in the oral hearing was accurately reflected in the argument.  It also allows me to get my client's sign-off on argument-in-chief, which I can't do as long as they are sworn.  If that works for the Panel and for the parties that would be our proposal.

MS. DUFF:  Based on the 5th, that's -- usually we give a week, but that's fine, based on the 5th.  Other parties, did you have an idea of when -- you had a time, given what's transpired so far, how much time you would need?

MR. SHEPHERD:  We have discussed, and I think everybody's in agreement on the 14th, which is the following Friday.  I actually have to file on the 13th, but same difference.  And I think everybody's in agreement on that. We haven't figured out what Staff's deadline would be.

MS. DUFF:  Mm-hmm.  Yeah, no, and I appreciate the effort to the keep tight time frames on this given the lateness.  Ms. Grice?

MS. GRICE:  Yes, the 14th works well.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Ms. Lau?

MS. LAU:  Same for us, thank you.

MS. DUFF:  All right.  The Board will confer with Staff and try to finalize this today before we conclude, all right?

MR. VELLONE:  I guess reply on the 28th?  It's usually a little bit longer for reply, just because we are dealing with --


MS. DUFF:  Yeah.  The Board -- the way we usually do procedural orders, we allow for two week.

MR. VELLONE:  Yeah, that's --


MS. DUFF:  So --


MR. VELLONE:  -- what I am proposing.

MS. DUFF:  -- I think that would be applicable in this case.

Are there any other preliminary matters to discuss?

MR. VELLONE:  There is one.

MS. DUFF:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  The applicant has brought printouts of the three undertakings that were requested yesterday.

MS. DUFF:  Great.

MR. VELLONE:  Distributed to all the parties.  Staff also has a stack of them which can be distributed to the Panel.  These haven't been filed on the Web Drawer yet, so maybe we can get them marked as an exhibit today and we will file them electronically.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They have been already marked as undertakings.

MS. DUFF:  Yeah.  Oh, right.  Just audibly, they are already marked as undertakings, so they can just be filed, but you are talking about the filing officially.  That's fine, that's great.

Okay.  It is 9:10, and Mr. Shepherd, please proceed with your cross-examination.
THUNDER BAY HYDRO ELECTRICITY DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 1, resumed

Yury Tsimberg,
Karla Bailey,
Robert Mace,
Cindy Speziale,
Tim Wilson; Previously Affirmed.
Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I have a follow-up question on one of the undertakings, and that is Undertaking J2.3.

MS. DUFF:  Yeah, I have yet to get copies of it, though, so...  Oh, thanks.  J2.3.  Please proceed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is the resolution you spoke of dated March 30th, and this basically -- it retroactively replaces the November 22nd resolution; right?

MR. MACE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you filed this because your counsel told you that the one that you had filed in response to the interrogatory on January 30th was misleading or was poorly crafted, let's say, and it needed to be fixed; is that right?

MR. MACE:  No, that's not correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, who noticed it?

MR. MACE:  We determined internally within the company that it did not -- the previous resolution did not give me the appropriate authority to spend money that I needed to spend.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And when did you determine that?

MR. MACE:  Sometime prior to March.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Prior to January --


MR. MACE:  Prior to March 30th.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Prior to January 30th?

MR. MACE:  No, prior to this particular resolution being passed, so sometime in the spring -- in March of 2017.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  And so why didn't you then correct the filing of the interrogatory response when you knew at that point that it was incorrect?

MR. MACE:  Honestly, I don't think it occurred to me.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you filed a resolution, which is the company's evidence on the record.

MR. MACE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You then deliberately changed that resolution retroactively.  Surely you had an obligation to tell the Board that you'd done that.

MR. MACE:  As I said, it didn't occur to me at the time.  I was more concerned with dealing with my authority internally and managing the utility.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Fine, thank you.  So I want to turn to you, Mr. Tsimberg.  And I am just going to try to deal with some of this stuff at a very high level.

You took the Thunder Bay data and you put it in a model, a Kinectrics model; right?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You didn't actually do it.  Somebody under your supervision did it.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Well, the specific spreadsheet calculations, yes.  Analyzing inputs, reviewing the data, reviewing the formulas, it was done under my supervision by me and one of the engineers working for me also.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And how long have you been -- how long has -- have you and/or your team been using this particular model?

MR. TSIMBERG:  I would say we started using similar model about eight years ago, but every year we refine features, we make it better based on experience and what we have learned with our clients.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, this model was not brand-new eight years ago; right?  It flowed from other models that you had used in the past, right?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So for example, at Hydro One you had a model that had sort of similar approaches but maybe wasn't quite as sophisticated.

MR. TSIMBERG:  No.  No, at Hydro One -- when I was at Hydro One, and I'm not sure how relevant it is, but I'm more than happy to share it with you, we actually hired a consultant, Hatch, who performed similar studies that Kinectrics performed for Thunder Bay, and they had their models.  We used their models to support Hydro One's transmission rate case, and then we hired them back about three, four years later using their models to revise their initial assessment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it was the same approach, right?  You get a bunch of condition information and you use Weibull curves to calculate an age-related -- to intersect age and condition; right?

MR. TSIMBERG:  You are asking me about Hydro One's models?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, well, we will start with that and then we'll get to --


MR. TSIMBERG:  Well, Hydro One's model did not include Weibull curves or probability failure.  It was strictly speaking based on health indexing --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. TSIMBERG:  -- and those five bands, and there's a very specific distinction between our models and models of our competitors.  We have two-tier formulas, which is to say we have Tier 1, which calculates health index based on condition parameters, and each of the condition parameters are calculated in the second tier based on sub-condition parameters.  All the competitors we have and all other providers of similar service, they have single tier, so it is just one single tier of calculations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so you've used -- Kinectrics has used this particular model in assessing the systems of a number of other LDCs, right?

MR. TSIMBERG:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know how many, roughly?

MR. TSIMBERG:  I would say 15, 16.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Fifteen or 16?

MR. TSIMBERG:  If need be I can give you specific names --


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's fine.  That's close enough.  But Hydro One is not one of them.

MR. TSIMBERG:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this wasn't -- nothing like this was used at Ontario Hydro.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Umm...

MR. SHEPHERD:  That you know of.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Well, I do know, because it was my responsibility when I was with Hydro One.  Ontario Hydro did not, I know this.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  So -- and the data comes from the utility, as you said yesterday, and the data is based on engineering judgment.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Yes and no --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, all right, but maybe you could turn to page --


MR. TSIMBERG:  Sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- 49.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Forty-nine?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Of our materials.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is a response that you gave to one of our interrogatories.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so these -- perhaps you could explain the extent to which the data is driven by engineering judgment?

MR. TSIMBERG:  I'd be happy to.  In deriving condition of assets, there are several general areas of information used to derive the condition.  One is test data, which is not subjective; it's based on specific testing done by sometimes a third party for utility, or sometimes utility staff.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this would be like oil test for a transformer?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Exactly, yeah, so it would be like oil test, a total gas analysis, partial discharge, that type of stuff, that sort of testing.  It's kind of analogous to ultra sound, an MRI, et cetera.  The second type of input data would be inspection data.  That would be visual inspections, less intrusive than testing, but nevertheless valuable.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's based on judgment, right?

MR. TSIMBERG:  To some extent.  Some utilities have an inspection form that kind of force the inspectors to do it in a consistent manner.  So some of those forms are consistent; some of them are less consistent.  For the most part, the data we use in our models has to be based on consistent data because if somebody walks along and says that looks not so good, we can't use it, it has to be digitized.  It has to be pegged against specific components.  So we use inspection information.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you turn to page 56 then of our materials?  It's another one of your responses, and you said:
"The actual methodologies or test procedures used by Thunder Bay Hydro to gather this provided data was not within the scope of the ACA."

So you didn't look at it, right?

MR. TSIMBERG:  When we received the data, we did not validate whether the data was accurate, that's true.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then you go on indeed.
"The input data provided by Thunder Bay Hydro was not validated or verified by Kinectrics."

So basically, you took whatever data they gave you, and whatever method they used was not your problem, right?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Not the method; the method was ours.  The input data was provided by Thunder Bay Hydro.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not what this says.  It says the actual methodologies or test procedures used by Thunder Bay Hydro to gather this provided data was not within the scope of the ACA.  Either it was yours or it wasn't.  This says it wasn't.

MR. TSIMBERG:  I am trying to understand exactly what you are asking.  Maybe I will tell you what we did, and you tell me if it answers your question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. TSIMBERG:  We asked for specific information to feed our formulas and that information, as I was saying, it includes test results, inspection results.  It includes loading information, like the kind of loading on transformers, et cetera.

It also includes certain aspects of expert opinion in specific areas, or specific manufacturing, or specific parts in a system that are exposed to higher stresses. That would be regular things to make sure the condition reflects those conditions.

We ask for this data.  When it's sent to us, we look at it just to, you know, assess if it makes sense and interpret it, if it makes sense from our perspective and how usable the data is in our formulas.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So when you say it wasn't validated or Verified, that's not correct.  You did verify it, you did validate it.

MR. TSIMBERG:  No, they tell me -- I walk by pole A for example, and I think pole A is a condition C.  We accepted it as condition C.  We didn't verify it as C or B or D.  We assume that it's condition C.

That’s what I meant by validating.  We didn't validate whether indeed it’s C.  We didn't send our guys out to look at the same pole and determine whether it's C or B or D, no.  We accepted it as a C.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's the Thunder Bay Hydro employee's judgment --


MR. TSIMBERG:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- as to the what condition it is.  You just accept it.  You don't instruct them this is how you should make that judgment.

MR. TSIMBERG:  That is right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You just say you make the judgment, you tell us what the number is, we will accept it.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Well, just to make sure, in this particular project, that was not in the scope for us to do that.  In some projects, we occasionally do that.  But in this project, we did not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I understand.  We are only concerned with your report in this case.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, all right.  So then back to page 49.  You said the condition data is data driven, but that's not exactly true, right?  It's data driven, but it’s still based on engineering judgment in some cases, in many cases.

MR. TSIMBERG:  A mix of the two.  There is no judgment applied to test data, for example; it is taken as it is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.

MR. TSIMBERG:  In getting inspection data, well, yeah, interpretation of what's good, what's bad, what's ugly, there was some judgment applied.  But since they use, for the most part, consistent forms, the amount of subjectivity was minimized to some extent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you provided the forms?

MR. TSIMBERG:  No, they have their own forms.  We reviewed the forms, I believe.  I can't remember now, but maybe Ms. Bailey can help we with that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I am asking for your evidence, Mr. Tsimberg.  You don't know whether you reviewed their inspection protocol?

MR. TSIMBERG:  We reviewed the data that came in.  I don't recall right now.  If you want, I can look back and check whether we reviewed actual inspection forms.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. TSIMBERG:  But what we did do is we talked to them about understanding what they meant, and I can give you an example, if you want to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MR. TSIMBERG:  If you have a number of assets in the system and you have information about a subset of assets -- not all of them, but a subset of assets -- there’s a couple of ways you can interpret what it means.  It means the asset is fine, or it means you don't have the data.  So we have those discussions with Thunder Bay Hydro to understand exactly what they meant.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So there's 500 pole-mounted transformers and they have inspection data for 25 and you have a discussion with them about how useful that information is.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And did you direct them on how to get better information?

MR. TSIMBERG:  It's part of our recommendations in our report.  There was a number of suggestions and recommendations, including how to improve both data availability indicator numbers and how to close data gaps.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So then the other category on page 49 is asset degradation curves.  And that's lifecycle curves.  It's what are they called, not Weibull.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Weibull, yeah, the rate of failure or failure rate, or other function or failure density, whichever one you prefer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And those were generated by Thunder Bay Hydro.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Those were not generated by anybody.  We had discussion with Thunder Bay Hydro experts and we asked them two questions: what is the typical useful life and what is extreme useful life for each asset category based on their experience, based on what they know, and based on typically when they go and are forced to replace some of the assets.

And based on those two points, we generated those two curves.

There are two options to generate those two curves.  One is by this discussion, and second to actually look at the removal statistics.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This says with respect to the asset degradation curves:

"The latter," that is the curves, "depends on the engineering judgment by the local LDC personnel."

MR. TSIMBERG:  With -- in absence of removal statistics, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And they have no removal statistics.

MR. TSIMBERG:  They had some we couldn't use.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So basically, they decided what  the curve should look like.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Yes and no.  We have -- because of what  we did for in other utilities, we do have reference curves. We have curves from Europe, we have curves from North America, we have curves from utilities with a similar climate and conditions as in Thunder Bay.  So as an initial step, we say, well, this is what we have.  What do you think?  How do your curves compare to those curves? And some would change based on their expert opinion.

So I would say it's a combination of what they know and what we brought to the table in terms of those curves from other jurisdictions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you would say -- this is just as an example -- we looked at Sudbury which is a similar climate, and their curves for this particular asset looked like this.  Does that look right to you for your utility?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Yes, we would have this discussion, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And they would make the call then what the appropriate curve is?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Yes, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So all your data comes in; it's all based on what the utility decides.  The only thing that you did to check whether the -- ultimately this data was producing the right answer, is that you did your calculations, you produced results, and then you went to the utility to see if they agreed with those results, right?

MR. TSIMBERG:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's what you said yesterday, so I am asking, that's why.

MR. TSIMBERG:  If I may, I would like to clarify.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. TSIMBERG:  We did get some information based on expert opinion.  Then we had --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, whose expert opinion?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Thunder Bay Hydro, and based on the full parameters and values that were recommended.  So there was Thunder Bay Hydro expert's opinion for developing degradation curves, as well as our judgment of similar curves for different jurisdictions.  So it was combination of the two.  That was somewhat expert opinion based.

When it comes to demographics, it's not based on opinion of anybody.  The demographics is the actual age of assets.  We use that as one of the inputs as well.  So that  that did not require input from any expertise from anybody.

And the third thing is that when it comes to test results, also it did not require a lot of interpretation.   Test results are test results, period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Most of the asset classes had no test results, right?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Station assets had test results.  Outside of station fence assets had inspection records and age, for the most part.

MS. DUFF:  Can I ask one question?  I am sorry, I hate to interrupt.  Like you must have done some data cleansing exercise, when you get some outliers, you know, you're comparing it to the other utilities, you've got -- like, did you eliminate data?  You didn't just take it the way it was.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Well, if we see, for example, we have a pole which is 105 years old --


MS. DUFF:  Yeah.

MR. TSIMBERG:  -- we will obviously exclude it, but --


MS. DUFF:  So that was part of your process.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Yeah, yeah, it was part of the process, but, you know, we didn't argue, well, this pole is not 105 years old, we just said, it kind of doesn't make sense.  It's a little bit outside of the range we would expect it to be.  And, yeah, sorry, I don't know if I answered

your --


MS. DUFF:  That was my only question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So -- sorry, you didn't just take the Thunder Bay data, then?


MR. TSIMBERG:  Sorry, can you repeat it, please?

MR. SHEPHERD:  You didn't just take the Thunder Bay data?  All day yesterday you said, they gave us the data, not our problem.  That's what you said today, and now you just said, no, we didn't take their data, so --


MR. TSIMBERG:  No --


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- which did you do?

MR. TSIMBERG:  We didn't -- there is a big difference between validating data and making sure data makes sense, so if some of the outliers don't make sense, we wouldn't include them, but it doesn't mean that we dispute that this actual data provided to us was right or wrong.  It just didn't make sense to us, so we excluded it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So your calculations start with a general formula; right?  It's the same general formula for everybody, right?  It's actually stacked formulas.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the formulae are actually right in your ACA, right?

MR. TSIMBERG:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But how you use them in your model is proprietary.

MR. TSIMBERG:  I would paraphrase it.  What I would say is the formula is available in the public domain and ACA report.  There is a significant leap from having just a formula to making sure it's programmed and could be used for multitude of assets.  If you want to replicate formula for one transformer or one pole it's pretty easy to do.  If you want to do it for 20,000 units it's not trivial, and that's where our skills and development comes in.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you were asked to provide your model.  And that's at page 50 of our material.  And you refused to do so.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Can you please repeat the question?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.  You were asked to provide your live model so that we could see how you went from data to conclusions.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you have refused to provide that.

MR. TSIMBERG:  That is correct.  That is proprietary information.  To me it's basically asking Coca-Cola for the recipe of their drink.  We have competitors.  That's how we make money.  We make money by using our IP and by translating formulas which are available for anybody to basically having them in some kind of IT platform, and to state further, if somebody wants to use the formula they pay us money.  For example, ABB, one of the biggest manufacturers in the world, are using our formulas, and every time they do they pay us licensing fee, so it's --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. TSIMBERG:  -- totally inappropriate, in my opinion, to just give it out.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Except that here's the problem, and perhaps I will ask Mr. Vellone through you, Madam Chair.  Was a claim of confidentiality made on this?

MR. VELLONE:  This interrogatory -- so let's get to the meat of this quickly, if we can.  My friend alerted me to the fact that he disputed this response in advance of the oral hearing.  Thunder Bay Hydro does refuse to provide the live Excel model on the basis of questionable relevance to this proceeding.  It's bit of a fishing expedition, Madam Chair.  There is an asset condition assessment.  It's been filed in this proceeding.  The results are readily available, and the witness is able to speak to it.

This question arose in the context of a subsequent round of interrogatories on an expert report that was filed by Mr. Tsimberg, where the Board in Procedural Order No. 5 made a clear determination that the interrogatories were to be limited in scope strictly to the new expert report.

There were a number of interrogatories that were received that were outside of that scope.  Despite that, Thunder Bay Hydro did their best to answer those questions and instructed Kinectrics to do the same.

I think on this one we are drawing the line.  The question is clearly about the asset condition assessment and the underlying models that backed it up, not about Mr. Tsimberg's new expert report.  It is a fishing expedition.  Parties want to play with the models, change the numbers, and, I don't know, produce some new set of asset condition assessment results, I guess.

In addition to that, and as stated by Mr. Tsimberg, the models are his proprietary trade secret and includes formulas, patterns, compilations, techniques, and processes that are owned by him, are used in an active trader business, is not generally known in the trader business, has economic value from not being generally known, and is the subject of reasonable efforts to try to maintain the confidentiality.

The disclosure of this information could be reasonably expected to be detrimental to the competitive position of Kinectrics.  There is a competitive community where this knowledge or knowledge of this information could harm their competitive position.  They have competitors like Elenchus, Hatch, Metsco, AESI, Power Systems Engineering, and others.

Our concern is that the disclosure of this information could cause undue financial loss to Kinectrics, and because of this if the Board orders disclosure of this information in the future it may limit Kinectrics' willingness to disclose that information in the future to clients or to the Board in future proceedings, and I don't think that's in anyone's interest.

MS. DUFF:  Just to clarify, are you saying that if you were -- you object to even filing it on a confidential basis?

MR. VELLONE:  Correct, Madam Chair.  I do think this is a bit of a fishing expedition, and we have the facts in front of us on the asset condition assessment, and questions can be asked on that.  This is going too far.

MS. DUFF:  Before I go back to Mr. Shepherd, do any of the other parties have any use of this data or have any comments at this stage?

MS. GRICE:  AMPCO is not specifically seeking to get this data.

MS. LAU:  I don't think we're able...

[Reporter appeals.]


MS. LAU:  VECC is not able to provide a comment on this time, I don't think.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Shepherd, so you are formally requesting that the Board make a decision in this case?  Is this in --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  -- lieu of a motion that could have been filed last week?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I don't think it could have been filed last week.

MS. DUFF:  Well, the answers came in on the 21st of July, I think -- June.

MR. VELLONE:  Yeah, I do believe this is happening in lieu of a motion.  My friend indicated to me that he wanted to frame for the Board Panel why he needed the information, and so I gave him the benefit of the doubt to put his best foot forward now.

MS. DUFF:  I just want to -- is this a -- you are asking the Board to make a decision on this.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am.  But I haven't asked for the decision yet, because I am not asking that you order production because they have refused.  I am asking that you exclude the ACA from the evidence.  And the reason is because you can't tell what the ACA is based on.  The ACA is simply a black box.  They put a bunch of data that is not their data into it and they will not let anybody see, including the Board, they will not let anybody see how they turned that data into their recommendations.

Mr. Tsimberg has said, all I did here was the ACA.  That's nothing -- I did nothing else but that, and I am providing my expert evidence on that.  So his expert evidence is based on something that is hidden from the Board.  I am not asking for production of that evidence.  They don't want to give it to you.  That's fine.  I mean, I could use it if they did give it, because we would be able to tell where the sensitivities are.

MS. DUFF:  Are you calling an expert witness in this?  What are you going to do with this data if you have it?  What are you doing with the models?  Are you --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I would cross-examine them on it.

MS. DUFF:  Yeah, but based on what analysis?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I would ask them, if you change this, does this result happen?

MS. DUFF:  And are you hiring an expert similar to Kinectrics to bring before the Board that --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why would I --


MS. DUFF:  -- would do that analysis?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why would I have to do that?  I don't understand why I would have to do that.

MS. DUFF:  You're just going to -- so what is your -- what's your purpose?

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is not complicated to say.  It's like a fancy spreadsheet.  If you change the number you can see the result.  You can then ask the witness, if I change this number is this the result.

MS. DUFF:  Well, the Board will have to figure out whether it considers the ACA of relevance, and the absence of the live spreadsheets, whether that is somehow -- would change our weighting that we would place on the information that's already on the record and how we would weight that in terms of informing our decision regarding Thunder Bay's rates.

Given that you are proposing that the asset condition assessment be struck from the record, are you able to proceed then if we don't give you a decision right now?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So let me -- you have done 15 or 16 of these studies.  You generally produce asset condition assessments; right?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Yes, well, we produce a report based on results of asset condition assessment, yes.  Asset condition assessment is a process.  The result of the process is the report.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the report normally in this process is called the ACA, right, the asset condition assessment?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Asset condition assessment report, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So do you also sometimes produce the distribution system plans for utilities?

MR. TSIMBERG:  We don't.  We help some utilities in developing their distribution system plan.  My personal belief is that utilities should know their business and they should produce distribution system plans.  I think we can look at them with kind of a sane set of eyes and make recommendations.

What we do also is we review some of the distribution system plans on behalf of OEB as a vendor of record, so there is no conflict of interest.  If somebody helped utility A to produce distribution system plan, they can review it.  So we review it in conjunction with OEB as to how it is aligned with chapter 5 requirements – but not in this particular case.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you do that?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what utilities have you done that for?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Do I have to answer this question?

MR. VELLONE:  Do you have confidentiality concerns to your obligations to these other utilities?

MS. DUFF:  I don't need the individual, Mr. Pastirik.

MR. PASTIRIK:  No, I don't need those.

MR. TSIMBERG:  If it helps, I can give you the number. There’s three utilities we did it for.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wasn't aware that Mr. Tsimberg had ever done a review of a DSP on behalf of the OEB.  I would like to go back and look at those DSPs and look at what Board Staff --


MS. DUFF:  I think the question was what utilities have you done that for.  So I think it’s have you done it, yes or no.  The names of the individual utilities that he has worked for, I don't need to know the names of them.  The question is whether you have done this work for utilities in Ontario.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, sorry, Madam Chair, that wasn't  my...


MS. DUFF:  I am just reading your words.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The discussion was about reviews by Mr. Tsimberg on behalf of the OEB and when I said what utilities have you done this for, I meant on behalf of the OEB.

MS. DUFF:  Oh, thank you, okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because I would like to then go and look at -- I know the ones that Kinectrics has done for the utilities; I have looked at those.  I don't know which ones he has done for the OEB.

MS. DUFF:  For the OEB, for an OEB proceeding?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think that's what he said.

MS. DUFF:  Just again, when you say "for the OEB", I just wanted to make sure I understood.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is my understanding incorrect, that on behalf of the OEB in proceedings, you have looked at their DSP and advised staff on --


MR. TSIMBERG:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.

MR. TSIMBERG:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I am wondering which utilities that is, because I would like to go look at them.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Well, we are not the only company in Ontario who does it.  There are several guys, several companies who actually are used by OEB as vendors of records to review DSPs produced by utilities.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that, and I normally see them in the hearing room and I know who they are.  But I wasn't aware that you had, and I would like to -- you know, if you reviewed ELK, let's say, which is just in process, I'd like to go back and look at their DSP and look at the positions and the questions that were asked, and the positions that Staff took.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Well, the questions by Staff were  not -- questions were by Staff.  I just provided advice and my opinion to Staff regarding the contents of the DSP, and then Staff generated the questions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is a little bit of a side track.  What I am trying to get is this -- and I knew the answer to this until you just said that.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But I am going to ask it anyway. Have you ever in any of these studies recommended to an LDC that they spend less overall than they were originally planning to spend, ever once?

MR. TSIMBERG:  That's not really the objective of an asset condition assessment study.  We don't translate condition into money and income.  I have explained it in a number of places.  But if you indulge me, I can go over it again.

Asset condition assessment determines condition-based needs of existing asset base.  And this is why we don't call it a replacement plan, the result.  We call it flagged for action plan, because action could be capital, it could be O&M, it could actually be to do nothing.  From this action, which is really determined by utility what the appropriate action is in each case, you derive corresponding amounts of money for capital and O&M budgets.  We don't do that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your flagged for action plan, in every single case that you have ever given one, has always recommended more action than the utility wants -- has done in the past, right, always?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Every single flagged for action plan we did, not only in Ontario but for any utility anywhere, our objective is not to help a utility to make more money.  My integrity is at stake here and what we are trying to do is are trying to do the best we can in predicting what real needs of utilities are, and it's based on input information, and it's based on opinion of experts in the utility as well as our opinion, experts in Kinectrics.  And as a result, we get what we call a flagged for action plan, which is a long-term forecast of needs to sustain the existing asset base.

I don't know beforehand how much money they were spending; it's really not my concern.  My concern is to determine what's an appropriate health index distribution and flagged for action plan for a utility based on what they know.

MR. PASTIRIK:  But it's then up to the utility to decide what they are going to spend based on the plan.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Exactly right.  If I can paraphrase it and make it as a comparison, I will say this.  We get them to the ballpark, and they take it to the pitcher's mound.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's all very nice to say, but I asked a very specific question.  Have you ever recommended less action than the utility was already doing?  The answer is no, right?  You have always recommended they should be doing more than they are doing.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Well, first of all, you are asking me questions that I can't provide you an answer because it's not my starting point.  I don't start with saying look how much money you guys are spending in the past, and let me see how can I help you to spend more.  That is really not my objective.

I would like them to spend the right amount of money and to help them determine what this right amount of money is, I am providing them with useful input of what their condition based requirements are.  This is where my expertise comes in, not in looking at how much they were spending before and trying to bring it up.  That's nothing to do with what we do.

Most of the time, I don't even consider what they spent before; it's irrelevant to me.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You consider what replacements they’ve done before, right, because that's part of your pattern.  You look at what they have replaced in the past and what they should be replacing going forward, right?

MR. TSIMBERG:  No.  There is a big difference between replacements and removals.  I can have two or three years of data.  If I have enough points, I can generate Weibull curves based on that.  I don't need replacement patterns over a number of years; all I need to know is removals.

And incidentally, when you look at replacements – and the reason it would be totally meaningless for me to compare what I do with past history is replacements are not only done for condition reasons.  Replacements are done for reasons not only related to conditions.  You replace many poles when you widen your roads and highways, and that has nothing to do with condition.  You replace a whole bunch of pretty decent poles as part of this exercise.

So condition assessment is based on really what you need for condition reasons.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If we look at all of your asset condition assessments, and we look down the list of poles, let's say, and we say what did you recommend is the first year pole replacements.  And then we go to the -- what that same utility has done in the past, will we find one where your recommended pole replacements is less than in the past?  Will we find one?

MR. TSIMBERG:  You are asking me questions, but I haven't done this analysis.  But what I can tell you in the specific case of Thunder Bay is we recommended that they will defer or replace fewer 4 kV transformers than they were planning to do.  We didn't know what their plans were.

We just looked at condition of transformers.  They were in better condition than they thought they were and as a result, they decided they weren't going to replace as many at same rate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact, your overall recommendation was that they do more replacements and spend more money than they have in the past.  Isn’t that right?  In fact, they said they didn't even do as much as you told them to.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Right, and that's based on what we know about the condition of their assets.  And actually, they are not in unique position.  It's pretty well similar situations for many utilities across Ontario.

For example, underground systems is one of the areas where many utilities have a significant backlog of underground cables that they will have to deal with.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's what I am trying to get at, Mr. Tsimberg, and thank you very much.  You have an underlying bias.  You believe that utilities are not investing enough in capital; isn't that right?

MR. TSIMBERG:  No, that's absolutely not right.  I pay for those investments.  I am a ratepayer, I would prefer utilities to pay not more or less.  I would prefer they pay right amount of money and to help them determine what this right amount of is; that's why we do asset condition assessments.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you always end up saying the right amount of money is more than they have spent.

MR. TSIMBERG:  I don't know whether it's factual statement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, we will put it in our argument.  We will put the table.  It will be obvious.

You also worked for Ontario Hydro and Hydro One; right?

MR. TSIMBERG:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And did you ever there recommend less spending than the past?  Did you ever recommend that our capital budget should go down this year rather than up on wires assets?

MR. TSIMBERG:  I have still response is one.  I am not sure how it's relevant for this proceedings.  But secondly, it really wasn't my responsibility when I was in Ontario -- Hydro One to determine capital budgets.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You had no input.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Well, I had some input, but it's not -- it wasn't my purview to say, this is how much money we are going to spend going forward.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have always -- at Ontario Hydro and Hydro One you always said, no, we have to spend more, we have to spend more; right?  Whenever you were asked your opinion you always said, no, more is necessary, less is a problem.

MR. TSIMBERG:  That's not true.  First of all, I wasn't asked that opinion.  Secondly, if anything else, I was asked to interpret results of asset condition assessment performed by third party, in this case Hatch or somebody else, so -- and incidentally, asset condition assessment is something that's really -- Ontario Hydro never did.  I think we talked about, about 15 minutes ago, Hydro One was one of the first utilities probably in the world who went on a path of doing asset condition assessments, because before most of the -- most of the decisions were age-based.

MR. SHEPHERD:  See, here is what I am trying to understand, Mr. Tsimberg, and I will cut to the chase here.  You have this model that we can't see.  You use utility data that you haven't verified.  You plug it into the model and you produce a result that -- we don't know quite how, and you always, every time, recommend that they are not doing enough.  And I am not sure I understand how that is helpful to the Board.  Help me understand that.

MR. TSIMBERG:  I will do my best.  First of all, the model is available.  You have a formula, and if you are suggesting that those spreadsheets are pretty straightforward, then you take a formula, put them in spreadsheets, hire some student from University of Waterloo, and they will produce it for you.  It's right there, it's in the public domain, and we are happy to provide the formulas that's out there.

The step from moving from the formula to analyzing it for thousands of assets, it's not a trivial task, but formula is there.  If you want to check it for specific unit, it's not very difficult to do.

So it's out there, but just a matter of very simple programming --


MR. SHEPHERD:  What we can't see is the calculations you did for Thunder Bay Hydro; right?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Well, the calculations are based on a formula, so one of the thing -- simple thing of auditing our results is, look at a condition of one unit, calculate it based on our black box, and do it manually for that unit and see what results you get are comparable to results from our black box.  If results are different then it's a problem; if they are not different then it verifies the black box.  But if you want to do it for thousands of assets that's a different story.

Secondly, the statement that I always recommend to spend more money, I disagree on a couple of levels.  One is, I don't recommend money, I recommend assets to be looked at.  I don't recommend what specific action needs to be taken for those money.  I think it's very valuable input for utilities to decide which action should be taken in each specific case.

Secondly, the assertion that I always recommend to spend more money, I am not sure what the basis for this assertion is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I want to turn to the company witnesses then and ask them about their capital spending.  And you talked about this yesterday, Mr. Mace, and so this is probably for you.

If you look at page 41, this is the factors that go into your capital --


MR. MACE:  I am sorry, I am having difficulty hearing you, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  At page 41 of our compendium, this is your decision -- factors considered in your capital expenditure plan; right?

MR. MACE:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I want to target this one you talked about yesterday, financial constraints, and it says:

" Strategic reduction of the budget to meet the required envelope."

So what you said yesterday was the original budget was higher by a lot, and you thought that that was too much spending and you cut it back.

MR. MACE:  The original activity level as recommended, as presented in the Kinectrics report, would have produced a capital budget, we estimated approximately $3 million higher than the level we are requesting.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you said, 15 million is too much; we can't spend that this year.  Was that because you didn't have the people to do it or -- why?

MR. MACE:  That would have been a factor, but the primary factor was rate impact, and the -- and it was a subjective decision on my part that, yes, we need to increase spending to address asset condition, but that is too high a rate increase.

One of the specific constraints, or one of the specific inputs into my decision, related to underground.  We have a significant backlog of underground, and we have been working at different ways to address that, and I am not convinced yet that we need to put, you know, another couple million dollars a year, for argument's sake, into it.

But at the end of the day I would say it was a subjective -- I recognize we need to increase capital spending, but I don't think we can go another $3 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that $3 million would translate into about a $250,000 impact on your deficiency?

MR. MACE:  I haven't done the calculation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Am I in the ballpark?

MR. MACE:  Probably a bit higher, but depends on whether you think it's eight to one or ten to one, but in that range.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then if you look at the same page, the next section down, input from customers, and you will recall that yesterday you were shown results from your survey of your customers, and your residential customers said:  Reliability, don't care, cost, big deal.

MR. MACE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you responded to this by reducing the overall budget envelope; is that more than what we just talked about or is that the same thing?

MR. MACE:  I'm sorry, you need to clarify --


MR. SHEPHERD:  We just talked about --


MR. MACE:  -- your question for me.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- your strategic reduction.

MR. MACE:  Yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is another reduction to your capital budget?  Or is it the same thing?

MR. MACE:  It's -- I am sorry, it's the same thing.  It's concern for rates.  There is a component to it that probably you couldn't get that much capital work done regardless, but the overriding concern for me was rates and reasonability of an increase in capital spending that was that big is just -- and it's a subjective measure.  The optics of it were too big for me.  Yeah, I will leave it at that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The budget you have proposed, what is it, 12-million-4 or something, something like that.  That's about as much as you can do with your current staff; right?

MR. MACE:  With the -- we have contractor resources available.  We could do more.  I am not -- yeah, we  could -- we could do more.  I haven't -- I haven't calculated the cut-off for what's physically possible to do in 2017.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It wouldn't be a lot more; right?

MR. MACE:  It would be contractor work, and I would speculate that you could get a couple million dollars more capital done a year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I want you to turn to page 44 of our materials if you could, please.  And I am trying to understand the interaction of the asset condition assessment and the customer engagement and the DSP.  Okay.  And so you have -- here what you say is, on the same day, or the same month, I guess, you decided on the customer engagement protocol and you decided on the initial DSP plan and strategy and development; right?

MR. MACE:  Sorry, which --


MR. SHEPHERD:  See 10/15?

MR. MACE:  -- page are you looking at?

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is page 44 of our materials, 10/15, October --


MR. MACE:  Yes, so October of 2015.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. MACE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you were doing both of those in parallel, customer engagement and DSP.

MR. MACE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that customer engagement interview protocol that you are talking about, is that the first phase or the third phase or the second phase?  There were three phases; right?

MR. MACE:  That was the first phase.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The first phase.  So did that include the $2.8 million number?

MR. MACE:  I will check for you.

MS. BAILEY:  I am going to go ahead and answer that. So that interview protocol, that was the mental model's research that we did.  And so within that research, it didn't have an actual budget for each.  It talked about percentages that we believed we would see increases in each of the system renewal, system access, system service and general plant.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that was consistent with the ultimate $2.8 million number, right?

MS. BAILEY:  It was fairly consistent, yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The reason I ask that is because it sounds like the spending level was determined even before you had the preliminary ACA several months later, isn't that right?

MR. MACE:  I wouldn't say that, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you went out to engage your customers at time you were starting your DSP process, and you gave them numbers that were consistent with the final result.  Was that an accident?  A coincidence?

MS. BAILEY:  To answer your question, what we provided to the customers in those engagements was again a percentage that we believed each of those categories would increase by.  So to continue, as I said, we provided customers with an expected potential increase in each of the categories.

What changed between when we went out for the engagement and the initial DSP plan strategy and once we received it was the asset quantities, and the mix of how it changed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the total would be similar, but what you spent it on -- so for example, the 4 kV, after you got the ACA you said, no, wait a second, we are spending too much on that; we have to shift that over somewhere else, right?

MS. BAILEY:  Yes, you are right in that assumption that we shifted that strategy of how we were managing the assets that we had.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, Mr. Mace, I will turn back to you.

MR. MACE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You said they came in and said we should spend $15 million and you said no, that's too much. But actually, you already had a number, right?  In fact you had a number many months earlier, right?

MR. MACE:  We had a planned range.  I don't think we had a number.  We had a sort of target of activity which was -- I would characterize it as a working assumption.  The ACA came back in with a much higher number, which we did not accept.  So we stuck with our lower number.

I would not characterize it to say that I had predetermined that number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what I conclude from this -- and tell me whether this is right.  The Board has to assess your capital plan, and what I conclude is the overall amount of your capital plan is something that you decided internally without the help of Kinectrics in any way.

The emphasis, how you spent that money, was influenced by the input you got from Kinectrics on areas where there should be emphasis, isn't that right?  Is that a fair characterization?

MR. MACE:  No.  The budget for capital was solely determined by Thunder Bay Hydro.  It was influenced, and an input into that determination was the activity suggested by Kinectrics through their ACA.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the number never changed, only the split within the budget.

MR. MACE:  The number wasn't finalized until -- it certainly wasn't finalized in 10/15.  There was a working range.  We hadn't seen the ACA.  I was surprised, relatively speaking, when the ACA came in and said, well, your activity level should be this high.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you just said no, we are going to the stick with our old number.

MR. MACE:  We didn't have a number, but we had a range.  And at that point down the road, we would have defined -- engineering would have defined the projects according to the priority list and kicked out a number, which we looked at and said, yes, that I can live with. An activity level that's higher, that's consistent with the Kinectrics activity, I can't.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The transcript will be clear, Mr. Mace.  You said they gave us a higher number and we decided to stick with our old number.  That's what you actually said; we will stick with our old number.

MR. MACE:  I don't know that's what I actually said, but they gave us a higher activity level and we determined that we were going to pursue -- undertake a lower activity level.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right, let me ask you about these three versions of the ACA.  So you had one in March, right?  Then one in May, and then one in August.  Is that right?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Is it all right if I respond to this?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MR. TSIMBERG:  It's basically followed -- just before going into this, I want to restate again.  We don't provide any budgetary numbers.  We give assets to be translated into budgetary numbers as a result of the ACA.  So it's not that we said this is how much you need to spend; we never do that.

What we do is we say, you know, this is what I think your needs are in each asset category, and again those needs could be addressed as capital, or as O&M, or as do nothing.  So there again, it's really in the utility's purview how they are going to do that.

Regarding your specific question about different staging, so we stage kind of results. The first thing we do is we develop an initial set of result which is limited to essentially health indexing by itself.  We didn't go into probabilistic assessment at that point.  It was just health indexing initial distribution based on input that we had.

And we do a little check.  So what we do is we generate a list of bad and good assets, and just as a selective audit we say, well, this is what we think is good assets.  We are looking for questions like, yeah, I didn't expect this one to be so good, why is it so good?  Or this one is shown to be bad; why is it bad?

And that's when we go into formulas and we calculate and we explain why.  So sometimes what the utility thought is a good condition asset was not, based on the test results.  Sometimes it was the other way around.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, let me stop you there.  So yesterday when you talked about showing the utility your results as a sort of a sanity check, it sounds like, that would be this preliminary ACA.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then you talk to them about it.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And they would say no, this is nuts or this is good, right?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Yes.  And again, it's for selective arbitrary assets, just to see -- you know, like when you do an audit, you are not looking for the whole thing.  You are looking at I know something about this unit, what does it show in your assessment.  I know something about this unit, what does it show in this assessment.

And sometimes what they thought is not right based on what we found.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, here's what I don't understand.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You gave that to the utility on the 16th of March and on the 31st of March, they finalized their DSP plan strategy; they had their first draft written.  I don't understand how the two interacted.  That's two weeks, yeah, two weeks.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Well, they had initial results at that point.  I am not sure to what extent they were included; I can't speak to that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am sort of asking them actually.

MR. TSIMBERG:  But I think your initial question was what are those three different stages, and that's what I am trying to...


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, go ahead.

MR. TSIMBERG:  So the first stage is we present initial results.   The second stage, we actually -- if there is need to modify initial results based on our discussion. Then we also interject all the degradation and probabilistic assessment in and then we generate what we call a draft report, which has now health indexing and a flagged for action plan as well.

Then we present it, just to go over it, and then we finalize it later.  Those are the three things on this list.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that was after they had already finished their second draft of their DSP that they actually got your ACA, right?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Well, there is one more thing.  It's not like we saw them three times and never talked in between.  We had numerous conference calls, numerous Webexes.  When we say "draft report", which is, I guess 5, 13, 16, they already knew the results.  Report was basically formalizing heading information, like recommendations, assumptions, formulas, graphs, et cetera, but the real results were available a bit earlier.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But then that wasn't the final report, right, then?  That was actually sent to the lawyers for review; is that right?  I am asking the company.

MS. BAILEY:  I'd like to just clarify some of the questions you had now.  In terms of draft and DSP plan, strategy finalized and Kinectrics preliminary ACA, those three listed items, so we received the preliminary ACA, which of course informed us of this shift that we would need to make from focusing on 4 kV to shifting over to 25, looking at our underground.  So we needed that information as early as possible to start to take that information and engineer how we were going to deal with it.  And so that was the strategy discussion we had with the president to allow me to start to make that shift.

There were multiple drafts of the DSP, as you see here after that --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just stop you?  The first draft, though, was the same day you talked about it with the president, right?

MS. BAILEY:  Right.  So we --


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this wasn't getting instructions, this was, here's our draft, right --


MS. BAILEY:  So it was --


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- are we going in the right direction.

MS. BAILEY:  -- here is what we think would be a prudent way to take the information we have received from Kinectrics and move forward with it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MS. BAILEY:  So that was draft 1.  A month later you see draft 2.  Draft 3 further on months later.  Of course, we didn't put in every discussion we had with the president of our -- or our vice-president, it's an iterative process we have as we are developing this, so we tried to make this just milestones that we had.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And when the final draft -- sorry, the penultimate draft was sent to the lawyers for review, that also included the ACA; right?

MS. BAILEY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good, thank you.

MS. BAILEY:  Actually, it included the ACA that was -- as it was at the time.  I see here draft 3, 07/15, and then we received a final, signed copy from Kinectrics --


MR. SHEPHERD:  So did you get feedback, Mr. Tsimberg, after July 15th from Thunder Bay -- Thunder Bay Hydro on your --


MR. TSIMBERG:  It was not significant.  Usually by the time we get to draft report it's -- I would say we are 90 percent there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There were some amendments in the final ACA; right?

MR. TSIMBERG:  In the final...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Between May and August there were some amendments to your report; right?

MR. TSIMBERG:  I would not call them amendments, I would call them changes.  There were some changes made, yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I want to shift now to the absolute amount of capital spending.  Your current weighted average deprecation rate is 1.67 percent of the original gross value of assets; right?

MR. MACE:  I am sorry, 1.67 percent of...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, of the gross value of your assets.

MS. BAILEY:  Is that somewhere in your --


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, it's just a number you should know.

MR. MACE:  Well, it's numbers that I have people to know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The --


MR. MACE:  I have a limited hard drive capacity.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I just took it from -- 2013 is the last time you had the original gross value of your assets included in your results, and so I took the depreciation divided by the gross value and got 1.67 percent.  Does that sound right to you?

MS. SPEZIALE:  I haven't done the calculation, so --


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Well, I am going to ask you to accept that subject to check.  It's from your own data.

MR. MACE:  I am not sure I would accept it subject to check.  But you can propose it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, subsequent to 2013 under IFRS you restated your gross PP&E, didn't you?

MS. SPEZIALE:  Subsequent to 2013?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MS. SPEZIALE:  2013 was on the modified CGAAP, so --


MR. SHEPHERD:  2013 includes gross PP&E with all original values.

MS. SPEZIALE:  2013 actual results is on a modified GAAP basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so I went to look at the yearbook.  It has $185 million of gross PP&E, which is your original number.  The next year it's 112.  So that's when you changed it; right?

MS. SPEZIALE:  Can you repeat the question?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  In 2013 you still had in your yearbook report, your triple RPs, you still had the original value of your PP&E assets.  In subsequent years you have the restated value; right?

MS. SPEZIALE:  I am not sure.  I would have to check.  In 2013 we have the modified CGAAP basis of reporting.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason I ask this is because if your weighted average depreciation rate is 1.67 percent, then the inverse of that is 60, which is -- that would be the weighted average number of years that you say your assets are going to live.  Is that -- that's a correct calculation; right?  Mr. Tsimberg, you can answer this.  I am sure you know this answer.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Assuming the rate of installation was constant, which is really not the case --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Or random.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Sorry?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Or random.

MR. TSIMBERG:  No, constant rate will give you something like that.  If you install assets, which usually peaks and valleys in terms of numbers each year, that would not be the right statement.  It would depend on demographics.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  See, the reason I ask this is because you're proposing to spend about 350 percent of depreciation on new capital spending, which is among the highest in Ontario.  And I am trying to understand why you should be spending so much more than your deprecation rate on new capital spending.  Nobody else -- not nobody else.  50 of your peers are spending less than that.  I don't understand why you need to spend so much.

MR. MACE:  So I can tell you that I benchmarked using the 2015 OEB distributor yearbook based on a different basis you are using related to depreciation.  I calculated the amount of capital spending as a percentage of net PP&E.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. MACE:  The average for the utility industry in Ontario is 15 and a half percent, and Thunder Bay Hydro is below that average for 2015, 15.2 or 15.3, I can't recall exactly.

So in terms of capital spending to net PP&E, I used that as a sanity check, a reasonable check, and it looked reasonable to me --


MR. SHEPHERD:  And why --


MR. MACE:  -- I have not -- I have not calculated the depreciation method you are talking about, so I frankly can't comment on whether it's valid or not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I don't understand your capital spending to net PP&E.  That doesn't -- it seems to me your net PP&E goes down if your assets are older, so your capital spending should go up, they should be inversely related.

MR. MACE:  Well, and again, I haven't delved into what you are saying.  But I would imagine if your assets are older your depreciation levels are lower too --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I --


MR. MACE:  -- so I think there is probably a lot of interpretation room in any of those comparators, including the one that I used.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why would your depreciation be lower if your assets are older?

MR. MACE:  They would have been installed at a lower cost.  If your asset base is lower than on average, older on average then the newer --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then the original cost was lower.

MR. MACE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But then what you should be using is your original cost; right?

MR. MACE:  As I said, I haven't delved into your depreciation --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.

MR. MACE:  -- scenario.  If I could, if -- and I'll ask Madam Chair.  It might be -- I am not sure it's appropriate or not.  I would like to correct something that we discussed yesterday during the capital questioning.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Go ahead.

MR. MACE:  If it's appropriate.  We had talked about density, and I know that it tweaked me at the time as not being correct, the Burlington comparison.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. MACE:  I looked at the OEB distributor yearbook last night.  Thunder Bay Hydro has about 131 customers per square kilometre.  Burlington has about 354, so nearly three times the density.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's interesting, because yesterday I asked you specifically is the appropriate way to measure density customers per kilometre of line, and you said yes.  And so I looked and I said Burlington 43.4, Thunder Bay 42.86; sounds like they are equal.

MR. MACE:  My mistake then, I was -- I misheard and assumed you were talking density in terms of square kilometres.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you think that the appropriate way to calculate it is customers per square kilometre?

MR. MACE:  I think it's a way the calculate it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right, thank you.  I want to move to OM&A.

And Madam Chair, the schedule says that I should break now and you should --

MS. DUFF:  Well, we have a few questions, too.

MS. LEA:  Madam Chair, if it please the Board and my friend, Mr. Vellone, I did have one question arising out of The answer to undertaking J2.2.

I wanted the opportunity to ask the witnesses about the drivers behind the change that we see from the 2015 SAIDI and SAIFI values to the 2016 SAIDI and SAIFI values.

Mr. Vellone, is that the sort of question that is acceptable to you at this time?

MR. VELLONE:  Please go ahead.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  And Madam Chair, is it acceptable that I ask this question at this time?

MS. DUFF:  Please.
Continued Cross-Examination by Ms. Lea:


MS. LEA:   Thank you.  So thanks very much for your answer the undertaking J 2.2.  You have indicated here that the actual SAIDI for 2016 was 1.69, and that's a better result than you achieved in 2015.

I tried to graph it very quickly on -- okay, it's in my compendium.  It's the chart of your -- it's page 27 of OEB Staff's compendium.  It sort of shows us graphically where your historical reliability trends have been.

So here we have just a graph.  We can get the actual numbers, too, if you want them.  But the graph, the left-hand graph -- that would be SAIDI graph, I think – that would indicate a downward trend for 2016 from your 2015 number.  Am I correct about that?

MR. MACE:  Sorry, I am looking at the scorecard, which I believe the numbers are the same, and the 2015 SAIDI was 2.02.

MS. LEA:  Right.

MR. MACE:  So it would appear that that's the number on the graph, and 1.69 would represent an improvement.

MS. LEA:  Improvement.

MR. MACE:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  And are you able to indicate to me what's the driver behind this improvement?  Is it a better weather year?  Is it some other factor?

MR. MACE:  Well, I think it's -- you also need to look at SAIFI, the frequency.

MS. LEA:  Yes, and I wanted to understood the relationship, if any, because I know they are calculated differently.

MR. MACE:  So frequency was worse.

MS. LEA:  Yes.

MR. MACE:  And which is why, and I have this conversation with my board, it's very difficult to look at a single year of reliability as a snapshot and say, oh, we did much better.  Our reliability is impacted by weather certainly, but it's also impacted by things like equipment failure, motor vehicle incidents.  Someone hits a pole; there is a large outage.

And if that happens, just to give you an example, if a -- you know, we have it in Thunder Bay.  If a snow plough clips a pole and it’s got two feeders on it, you end up with a single outage which may be of significant duration, depending on the pole.  So your frequency number maybe isn't impacted as your duration number.

MS. LEA:  I understand.

MR. MACE:  So looking at them, we step back and look at the end of the year and we say what drove various things.  When you have frequent -- and you can never reconcile it totally.

MS. LEA:  Yes, I understand.

MR. MACE:  When you have frequency higher than duration, it would imply that you maybe had a lot of small outages.  Perhaps where they occurred you were better able to restore them, maybe because of automation that you have in the system, SCADA switches and reclosers, so you were able to sectionalize without dispatching crews initially and recover, so your duration numbers were better, right.  There is a number of factors.

I call you that we did have a couple of big storms in 2016 that I would have thought would have impacted hours longer, but they impacted both frequency and hours.  So I am not sure -- I am sorry I am not sure if that answers your question.

MS. LEA:  Well, there may not be an answer to the question.  I just noted that in the evidence that we have on the record so far, the major explanation for SAIDI and SAIFI numbers was weather events, weather-related, and tree contacts was a big part of that.  And as we discussed yesterday, tree contacts are often driven by weather events.

So I didn't know if there was some similar explanation for the changes in 2016, for the numbers in 2016.

MR. MACE:  I couldn't say for sure.  I know during 2016, we would have had a spectrum of events including accidents, birds, weather, trees.

MS. LEA:  All right.  But one possibility as well is that your restoration times, your ability to restore power more quickly, improved in 2016.

MR. MACE:  In affected areas, that's -- one possibility is that.  The other possibility is that outages happened in areas where we are better able to quickly restore power.

MS. LEA:  And where are those areas?

MR. MACE:  Well, generally speaking, urban areas as opposed to rural.  If you have -- for example, if you coincidently have damage on adjacent feeders in rural areas and you don't have another supply, then it become as very long process.

If you have -- I am speaking in generalities.  If you have a better networked system in a more urban core, you have more ability to reroute power to affected areas in the event that you lose a pole, a cable, a breaker in a substation, something like that.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Ms. Bailey, it looked like you wanted to say something, but maybe I'm -- no?  If not, that's okay.

MS. BAILEY:  No, I agree with what Rob was saying.  The only thing I would add is that we have been -- as we are removing substations from service, we are ensuring that our protections are adequate and updating them with automated solutions, so reclosers.

So potentially, as Rob stated, in areas where we have replaced these old systems, old circuit breakers which were manually operable and we have put in automated reclosers, those would be able to isolate and sectionalize sections of feeder which would reduce the hours of customer -- the duration of the outage, but not necessarily completely remove that outage from happening.

MS. LEA:  All right.  And given what you’ve said then, I would imagine that you have no prediction as to what your numbers might be in 2017.

MR. MACE:  I can -- I am trying to remember.  The years kind of string into each other.

My recollection is that we have already had a significant weather event in terms of a blizzard in 2017, which impacted certainly -- I am thinking it was March, if memory serves.  The next few months have been good.  But honestly, it's one of those things you can't predict; auto accidents, weather, lightning.

MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  The panel has some questions, and the plan is to proceed with the panel questions, ask if there is any redirect, and then we will take a break assuming this isn't too long.  Are the witnesses okay to continue?

MR. MACE:  Yes.
Questions by the Board:


MR. PASTIRIK:  I have a couple of questions and some of it may be a little bit repetitive, but just to get some clarity on the record.

The first question I have got is kind of going back to the ACA.  Mr. Tsimberg, you mentioned that you prepare a report on the asset conditions, you provide that to Thunder Bay Hydro, and Thunder Bay Hydro then takes that information and develops their capital budget.

I am just wondering again if Thunder Bay could just summarize when you got that capital budget -- sorry, when you got that information in the ACA, what process you went through to determine what you were going to spend.  Just a bit; I know you been through it several times.

MR. MACE:  So at a high level, I can tell you -- and maybe it's helpful from my perspective to talk about why we hired Kinectrics.

So we have expert engineers and we have an engineering company, and engineers love to build things.  But I thought it was important to get an independent third party view.  Going into a cost of service, it's important.  But also to get, you know, get a second opinion, like going to the doctor.

So we hired Kinectrics to give their report.  I view it as a second opinion, a reasonability check.

At the same time in parallel we have our engineering staff -- who, you know, have had a very robust asset management plan, what we used to call it.  We have converted it to a distribution system plan -- who worked on prioritization of projects, so had a pretty good idea of, this is the kind of stuff that we need to do, these are the kind of projects that we need to do in order to maintain reliability of the system.

I am very concerned with the long-term reliability, and I would call it our legacy.  I would hate to be in a position ten or 15 years down the road when we have dramatically under-invested in our system and people start pointing back at the previous generation of management saying, what were they doing, why didn't they take care of the system.

So what drives me is -- and I understand perfectly, you know, the rate impact.  It costs people -- customers have to give us money to invest.  And no one wants to -- everyone would like to see rate decreases, and, you know, we probably have customers who would say, well, stop, stop -- just cut your capital in half, and that's great for, you know, a handful of years.

So I hired -- you know, we hired Kinectrics to do this second opinion, reasonability check.  They came in with a higher activity.  So A, I checked the box that -- mentally that, well, my staff aren't, in my opinion, being overly aggressive in investment.

So, you know, the two things kind of happen in parallel.  The Kinectrics report informed me as far as reasonability of our plan.  I would have been very concerned if our plan was only half of what they suggested.  That would have been, you know -- that didn't happen, but that would have concerned me.

MR. PASTIRIK:  Okay.  And so they highlighted the area or the assets that require or should be replaced sooner, some that should be replaced later, and then you just basically took that and said, okay --


MR. MACE:  Well, yeah, it was very -- so I think the biggest learning for us -- we had for a number of years -- we do extensive testing and maintenance on our substations, and they are a critical component, and when you look at failure in a substation, that's significant reliability impacts.

We had -- we do, you know, oil sample testing and breaker maintenance, all of that, and our internal view of how long those stations could last was shorter than Mr. Tsimberg's.  So that was interesting news to me.  We took that news and changed the DSP and said, okay, well, you know, we don't need to be as aggressive on rebuilding the 4 kV and replacing the stations.

We had always previously, I think, thought that the risk of those stations failing was a higher risk than our 25 kV system failing, but the Kinectrics study informed us on that, and we changed the DSP to reflect that.

MR. PASTIRIK:  Thank you.  Another question I have is, you know, as everyone knows, tomorrow is going to be July the 1st, and we are right down to the middle of the year, although you would never know it if you spent some time outside lately.

But the question I have is, do you see any impact on your projected capital expenditures in 2017, in that you don't have a decision yet, and, you know, we are well through the year, and I know from many experience I have had that the construction season is a little shorter in Thunder Bay than it is in, you know, southern Ontario.

Do you see any impact in terms of what you will spend this year --


MR. MACE:  Well --


MR. PASTIRIK:  -- based on that?

MR. MACE:  Thank you, that's a good question.  We tend to have our construction season, what I would call back-end-loaded.  We do a lot of our planning -- we do a whole bunch of our trades training and prep and everything in the first quarter, January, February, March.  We still do capital, but we do most of that.

We try to hit the ground running in May and June, and we are.  We have arranged with contractors so we have specific jobs that we are going to have contractors to 
do -- do later in the year.

So I recognize the decision will be delayed for some point.  I have talked to my VP of power systems and he is confident -- he has talked to the contractors.  He knows what our internal staff can do.  He is confident that he can complete the capital project as -- the capital program as proposed.

MR. PASTIRIK:  So you don't see any change in the capital program based on the time of year then?

MR. MACE:  Based on the timing of the decision?

MR. PASTIRIK:  The timing of decision, right.

MR. MACE:  No, there is sufficient flexibility -- because we augment our capital program with contractors, there's -- in my view there is sufficient flexibility either way.  If we had to curtail it we will cut off contractor work.  If we have to augment it we will add contractor work.

MR. PASTIRIK:  And do you see any changes in your cost estimates just based on, you know, if you do have to even back-end more of the work this year with overtime and things like that?

MR. MACE:  No.  The back-ending more of the work, the variable component is mostly the contractor work, who tend to work, you know, the off hours and the long hours without premium.

We have taken kind of great pains in the last few years to reduce that capital component.  You know, I hate paying double-time to install a pole when we can do it on regular time.  So we try to keep the planned capital that our crews are doing Monday to Friday, with the exception of sometimes you have to do it evenings and weekend to accommodate a customer, specific customer.  Where we can we try to do that.

MR. PASTIRIK:  Okay, great, thanks very much.

MR. MACE:  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  I have a number of questions.  Mainly the reaction to the asset condition assessment and when you knew it and what kind of reaction time.

So we have these 4K conversions which have a three-year -- two- to three-year span of when you start them and when you complete them, and in 2015 and early 2016 you knew that the 4K conversion perhaps was not as necessary, and I am interested to know why you continued to pursue your two-16 capital expenditures knowing that you had some insight into the fact that -- or did you have some insight to, that may not be necessary?  It really is on an asset condition basis.

MS. BAILEY:  So I think what you are asking is, you know, how did this change in philosophy affect us and when did it affect us and how have we reacted to it.

MS. DUFF:  Correct.

MS. BAILEY:  So the data that was provided to Kinectrics was 2015 end-of-year data.  They provided us with the initial in March here, initial March, yeah, and we started working on a strategy and a plan for the five-year term.  Of course -- so work was going on during that time.

MS. DUFF:  We just had it up on the screen, the schedule of events.  Perhaps we could put that up.  That would be helpful.  Thank you, yes.

So we are looking at, March two-16 you have preliminary ACA results.  And in the first quarter your spending pattern, I take it, is more preparatory and training as the answer you gave Mr. Pastirik.

MR. MACE:  Well, just to clarify, if I could, related to the capital program, you end up -- a capital job will span sometimes three years.  You do designs.  You may put poles in the ground later in the year, and one of the things that we have done to get more efficient is start dropping a lot of poles in the ground near the end of the year before it freezes up so that we can go out and string through the winter and we don't have to move snow, we don't have to dig through frozen ground.

So you will have jobs where you have already got 100 poles in the ground at the end of the year, and I think -- I can't recall the job we talked about, but it might have been Black Bay-Dewe or Dewe-Rita, where you have a -- if you were to stop that job and swivel, now you are stuck with old infrastructure and new infrastructure in the ground, and you have basically wasted most of that capital, so --


MS. DUFF:  You have wasted the capital of the poles that you've put in the ground.

MR. MACE:  The poles that you've put in the ground --


MS. DUFF:  Okay.

MR. MACE:  -- yeah.  So it -- I did have discussions with both Ms. Bailey and her supervisor, the VP of power systems, and it takes time to make that shift from, we are focusing on 4 kV stations to, we are going to go to 25 kV.  We haven't selected 25 kV jobs, we haven't done the design -- short of stopping production and laying everyone off you can't really do it.

The other, I guess -- we talked specifically yesterday, I believe, about finishing off the 4 kV jobs around Grenville station because of the risk assessments related to that station.  So we determined that that was still important to do, that we would undertake that while making our shift.

And you’ll see in our test year -- Karla can correct me if I am wrong -- we start the shift towards more 25 kV and then in future years, we continue that shift.

MS. DUFF:  And you didn't make that shift in 2016 when you had the -- you did not.

MR. MACE:  We started preparing for the shift.  But in terms of jobs, like did we go out and work on more -- did we physically start building and replacing more 25 kV?  We didn't start that in 2016.

MS. DUFF:  Because when I look at your priorities for the 2017 capital budget, the Black-Bay Dewe, there is a number of projects that need to be completed because you already started them.  So there’s a bit of a lag in terms of -- because you started them before, I now have a two- to three-year obligation in order to complete them.  I understood that was the case.

So when I look at the 2017, the reason it's not as reactive to just purely take the input from the asset condition assessments that Mr. Tsimberg has said is because, well, we already had a number of projects on the go that need to be completed.

But you started them in 2016 after you had the results, and I am putting that question to you.

MS. BAILEY:  Yes, so it's partially that.  But it's also about, you know, taking that input and then selecting the appropriate 25 kV areas.  So there's a number of areas where we could replace, and we wanted to ensure that we were choosing them appropriately, prioritizing going to the worst condition ones first, and of course we have to do engineering designs.

So depending on the area, you know, we do engineering designs for any projects that are over five poles.  So that design time does, of course, take time from engineering, potentially our consultants.  We stake the poles.

So initially, we needed to select those areas and then engineers prepare the drawings, and then it goes out to the crews.  So we started that process almost as soon as we started to get these preliminary results in from Kinectrics to shift our design away from 4 kV, knowing that those designs were now not in two or three years, but they were going to be ten -- ten years or further out, so shifting the design away from those areas into the areas of either 4 kV or underground plant.

And we try to design two to three years in advance, to make sure that we can get materials in.  So again, preparing to move away from areas, so we keep a stock of materials we need for projects.  We believe we have to --typically material times take, depending on the material need, up to six months to get in.

So shifting both materials, design as well as crews' expertise on different types of work, cover up for 25 versus 4 kV, it takes time to make that shift.

MS. DUFF:  Ms. Speziale, I assume for each one of these capital projects, you must have some kind of tracking mechanism; you have a budget, and then you are putting it against.  By the end of 2016, do you have the totals that have been spent on those projects that are continuing in 2017?  Are you able to provide that to the panel?

So what I am basically asking is so the Black-Bay Dewe's voltage conversion that's continuing in 2017, as a proportion of your total budget, how much had been spent to the end of 2016?  Do you have that information?

MS. SPEZIALE:  I don't have those numbers available.

MS. DUFF:  I would like you to file that for all the projects that are continuing to 2017.

MS. SPEZIALE:  For the voltage conversion ones?

MS. DUFF:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  So that would be undertaking J3.1, please.  I just want to make sure the undertaking is fully understood on the record.  It is the total amount spent by the end of 2016 on voltage conversion projects that are continuing into 2017.  Madam Chair, is that correct?

MS. DUFF:  Correct, and the original budget amount.

MS. LEA:  And the original budget amount.

MR. MACE:  Sorry, for each of those years?

MS. DUFF:  No, I need just the total budget -- whichever way you have the data and you think it will be helpful to me.  But I am looking for were you at 10 percent through the project in terms of spend by the end of 2016.

MR. MACE:  Okay.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.1:  tO ADVISE THE BUDGETED AMOUNT AND THE TOTAL AMOUNT SPENT BY THE END OF 2016 ON VOLTAGE CONVERSION PROJECTS THAT ARE CONTINUING INTO 2017

MS. DUFF:  I am not trying to be naïve, but I will put it to you.  Let's say the Board were to say no, we are not going to approve the budgets in 2017 for these projects.  What would you do, from a financial perspective, with respect to the money that has been spent to date?  Is it a really a sunk cost; is it wasted?  So I have got these poles standing in the ground -- what would you do?

MS. SPEZIALE:  It's not a sunk cost in so much as eventually those pole wills have to be replaced.

MS. DUFF:  So it wouldn't be used and useful.  It would just be it's been spent, and then it would just perhaps extend the duration of the project life until it reaches completion.

MS. SPEZIALE:  It would sit in work in progress.

MS. DUFF:  I don't mean to be naive again, but I would put it to you.  What if we were to stop?  What would be the implications?

I think you have described to me as the poles are put in place, but we haven't attached the wires and whatever.  Aside from an eyesore or, you know, the parties affected --


MR. MACE:  So I think the implications are probably --and depending on how long we deferred that.  I mean, presumably you are talking about at some point going ahead with it, the project.

So you will have the customer issue of, well, I have two poles in my front yard now.  Are you going to leave those for ten years?

So that's a problem.  If it were an extended period of time, we may have to consider removing the poles, potentially.

We do have to deal with the issue of the Grenville station, the Grenville Avenue transformer station, because we have identified that there is a risk there.  So again depending on the duration of the deferral, you know, those two -- the Dewe-Black Bay and Dewe-Rita projects -- are the last two we need to decommission that station.  So if it doesn't get decommissioned, and depending on the length of deferral, we may have to look at some refurbishment money for that station, and that would be a -- you know, you hate to put a lot of refurbishment money into it, so we would have to look at that.

MS. DUFF:  Any other factors?

MS. BAILEY:  So just to add to that, it of course depends where you are at in the project.  So if it is truly just strictly pole setting and you have stopped at pole setting and you haven't transferred any of the wires or transferred or put in new transformers, then it's a much simpler process as you are stating.

But if we -- you know, we don't -- typically we continue work after we -- so whether we have framed and done one or two laneways or moved things over, then if we've changed voltage on a couple of laneways but not others, some customers -- it may be difficult to manage in terms of an operations.  So we have transferred over these two laneways, but they are not adequately protected by the recloser that was planned to go in place there.

So that would be an impact if we were to stop a project not at an appropriate kind of place within it.

MS. DUFF:  Well, to the undertaking that I have asked Ms. Speziale to provide, if in addition to just the finance and then dollars being spent, if there is that issue, if you wanted to add to it talking about where we are in terms of the project and has it been electrified to some degree, that would be helpful, so please add that.

MR. MACE:  So for clarity, the percentage completion of those projects, and some of the risks associated with not proceeding?

MS. DUFF:  Fine.

MR. MACE:  To paraphrase.

MS. DUFF:  Yes. I mean, I realize the risk of asking for this information and we are going to be done by 2 o'clock today hopefully, but...


My next question is to Mr. Wilson.  We heard a lot about data and the importance of data and, I mean, in my past career as well, it's how you collect it.

So before Mr. Tsimberg goes on his way, have you talked to him about how you are going to be collecting failure data, the format?  I mean, because data is expensive; it's expensive to house, it's time-consuming to gather.  Have you asked him what would be the gold standard in terms of what he would like to see next time he is asked to do an assessment?

MR. WILSON:  I would defer for Karla to answer what she would ask Mr. Tsimberg as the person responsible for our IT group.  Then I would then have further conversations with her on what those requirements would be.

MS. DUFF:  You actually -- are you the person responsible for, I guess, the infrastructure or the ability for people on the ground to connect into and add data into your system, how is that collected and gathered and you are responsible for the organization.

MR. WILSON:  That would be joint between operations engineering and myself through our IT group.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Ms. Bailey?

MS. BAILEY:  I think to answer your question about collecting data and how onerous is that for Thunder Bay Hydro, so there’s --


MS. DUFF:  I could stop you there.  I was more just -- are you clear what information needs to be gathered and in what form?  And do you plan to have that discussion, if you haven't already, with Mr. Tsimberg?  It's more of just where does -- where do we end at the end of this hearing and what the Board's understandings of Thunder Bay's intention?

MS. BAILEY:  Okay, certainly I think we could have more conversation with Mr. Tsimberg.  We have discussed his recommendations, so in the final report -- the draft report and the final report came out with recommendations on what Thunder Bay Hydro should do to close those data gaps and improve that data availability indicator.  We did discuss options that Thunder Bay Hydro had in terms of doing that from an internal perspective, so internal resources, how could we do that, as well as contractors that could perform that.

MR. MACE:  So it might be appropriate, as I am her boss's boss, so I agree with the recommendations that Mr. Tsimberg had.  My expectation for the next cost of service, whether I am around or not, would be that there is a more robust DSP, that there is better condition assessment data, especially on underground, that there is better pole removal data, and that we are committed to improving our prioritization process.

So those will be specific directions that I flow through the VP of power systems.

MS. DUFF:  That's helpful, thank you.  I mean, as I said, everybody wants more data, but it costs money.

MR. MACE:  It does.

MS. DUFF:  And it slows everything down as well, so, I mean, you've helped -- what I understand is where you think there is a priority need to --


MR. MACE:  Yeah, and I don't fully understand, but I am sure I will come to, what constitutes removal data, but it seems reasonable to me that we know the age of old poles when they come out and, you know -- so --


MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much.

Ms. Speziale, I had a few more questions for you. Regarding the board of directors and the decision, like, when you were approving invoices at the beginning of two-17 were you then thinking about what the delegation of authority was from the board of directors regarding your two-17 budget?  I mean, were you involved in alerting Mr. Mace to the fact that we don't have authority to spend money beyond the two-16 plus inflation?  Like, how do you use the board of directors -- what are they called, undertakings or -- well, they are directives -- in order to then give you the authority that you know to process invoices and...

MS. SPEZIALE:  The approval of invoices is delegated at the various VPs within the division, within the corporation, so they have their budget and they know their budget approval, and then when it comes to finance we are providing them with monthly reports with respect to the invoice levels, and the budget is what we are guided by.  But I don't direct their spending per se.

MS. DUFF:  So up until March or whatever, Thunder Bay was still within the two-16 plus inflation.  I mean, you are checking that.  Like, what if -- and I -- by no disrespect, but just devil's advocate, oh, we are going to be proceeding with this huge capital project.  What would you expect to see in your job, in your realm of responsibility in terms of the authority to go ahead and spend that at a corporate level?

MS. SPEZIALE:  Can you repeat the question, please?

MS. DUFF:  Yes, so capital projects, are they a different nature?  You talked about invoices.  That was perhaps -- I shouldn't have --


MS. SPEZIALE:  Capital projects as per the approved budget.  We have a budget by project, and that's what the VP of finance is -- or VP of power systems is guided by for the 2017 budget, is the capital projects.

MS. DUFF:  They weren't approved up until now.  They are still not approved.

MR. MACE:  Well, and this is partially why this -- the original resolution was poorly crafted, because it leaves some ambiguity.  You could interpret that to say, well, we can do the amount of capital that we did last year plus a couple percent, and clearly --


MS. DUFF:  Well, that's what I interpreted it as.

MR. MACE:  Yeah, so clearly by now we are still well within that guideline.  It would be the end of the year. Where we ran into problems and it was not a -- it's on my responsibility because the resolution was crafted poorly.  Items that we had not spent on before in previous years -- and I am thinking of extra billing and postage and whatnot related to monthly billing, so technically we were offside with that resolution.

Now, you could interpret and say, well, yeah, but you were in early in the year and, you know, who know what would have happened by the end of the year, but I think, you know, when I talked to the board I said, all right, we need to replace this poorly crafted resolution with an appropriate one, so --


MS. DUFF:  I just have one more question.  My final one is, it does refer back to this president's report, and it was in SEC's compendium on page 21, and I will be honest.  It concerns me that it says:

"There is little to be gained from a thorough review and formal approval of the attached budget package."

MR. MACE:  Sure.

MS. DUFF:  And at the end of it the recommendation is -- appears to be that you are going to wait until this Board, this Ontario Energy Board, makes its decision before you then go back to the board of directors with a revised budget, and then I guess you will have the authority to spend.

So is that the appropriate process this will follow for two-17 for you?

MR. MACE:  So it requires a bit of, I guess, an understanding of how the board has discussed issues in the past, such as our expenditure levels, our capital levels. So we established the budget, we presented the budget to the board in terms of an overview of items that are in the budget that are impacting the rate application, because this is -- it's a substantial milestone for board -- or, you know, cost-of-service rate application.

We have talked historically every year about capital spending and the trend in capital spending.  They had the budget to look at.  What I am telling them basically is, guaranteed, I have never seen the utility go into any kind of cost-of-service decision and get exactly what they asked for.  Things will change, they will change.  My intent was to say things will change and we will give you a thorough review and change the budget to reflect those once we get the decision.

In the meantime this is a budget that reflects strategically things that we have talked about like level of capital investment.  They are very engaged on the fact that for a number of years we have been investing in order to maintain the reliability and robustness of our system.

So at a high level what I was getting at with them, and it probably could be worded better, is that there is no big surprises in this budget, and I don't want to fuss you a lot with, you know, a 3 percent increase in -- or a something increase in forestry at a line-item level.  I have told you about it, and it's incorporated at the budget, and certainly we had the budget there, and we have the opportunity to discuss anything in the budget, and there were some questions on the budget, but --


MS. DUFF:  Well, and I realize that's proprietary and I am not asking for meeting minutes, but you told them about the asset condition assessment --


MR. MACE:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  -- and the change in philosophy that we now have a different understanding.  Can you confirm to me that you spoke to them about that, that we now have information regarding the age of our assets and the condition that we didn't have before and we are going to have a different tactic that we are proposing to the OEB?

MR. MACE:  We specifically talked about the shift from less 4 kV to more 25, and I can tell you anecdotally there is concern about one distribution station, because the city has an ultimate plan to put an events centre there, and this station's going to have to go, and it's one of our last stations to go.  It's kind of like a key.  So I don't recall which director, but I can recall a director saying, well, what does this mean for that Camelot substation, and my response was, well, instead of ten years it's probably going to be 20 years now.  So they knew about that shift, yes.

MS. DUFF:  And again, the timing here, and I guess the responsibility on this Panel, it's June.  We are going to have reply submissions mid-July, we are going to have reply submission the end of July.  That leaves us August.  Let's say we get a decision out in August.  Then that would help maybe establish your rates for September.  I am just -- this is just a for-instance.  I don't know this is going to happen.  Then you are going to go back to your board with the decision from the OEB and say, well, this is the envelope of money that we have, and then we are going to then figure out our budget; is that's what going to happen?

MR. MACE:  So in all likelihood what I will have to do is have -- obtain interim authority to spend at levels consistent with the decision.  And then -- because it will take some time to produce a full budget.  I am confident the board will give me that authority.  I will say, well, this is what we have got.  For instance, capital.  We have got authority to spend X on capital.  I can't wait another eight weeks for approval.  I need to hit the ground running now.  Do I have that authority?  I am confident I will probably get the authority.  So I would anticipate it working that way.

MS. DUFF:  And that's actually what I was asking, because I would assume it would take you weeks to put together another capital budget with your own priorities, given the envelope of money that you have and how you've then decided to change the proposal for 2017, assuming there is a change.

MR. MACE:  Yes, both on the capital and the operating sides, it will take significant time.  You have to do overhead calculations and flow-throughs, so it is time consuming.  And I have thought about this, so I will undoubtedly have to get an interim approval level that's consistent with the decision.

MS. DUFF:  And in terms of timing, you are still, given the answer to Mr. Pastirik here, Member Pastirik, you are confident that you can maintain the construction schedule for 2017.

MR. MACE:  So my VP of power systems has told me he has specifically talked to the contractors.  They are confident with their portion of the work, that they can achieve it in 2017.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you very much.  Those are all my questions. Is there any redirect, Mr. Vellone?
Re-Examination by Mr. Vellone:


MR. VELLONE:  There are, Madam Chair.  I do have three questions for the panel.

The first relates to my review of the transcript last night.  I think one of the witnesses may have misspoken. I think the easiest way to make sure the factual record is correct is just to put that transcript to them.

MS. DUFF:  A wording change, or is it something with meaning?  Because we can...


MR. VELLONE:  It's something with meaning, and maybe I could get the transcript pulled up on the screen.

This is during Mr. Wilson's portion of the in-chief yesterday.  I don't know if you can see the transcript up on the screen.

Beginning at page 14 and just scrolling down, Mr. Wilson was itemizing several of the cost saving initiatives that were outlined in the application that Thunder Bay Hydro undertook, and you listed quite a few; it continues through page 14 into the top of page 15 -- and stop there, please.

At lines 4 through 6, Mr. Wilson, I think you attempted to sum up all the previous cost saving efforts and you stated that the total amount of savings was $1.2 million; is that number correct?

MR. WILSON:  I believe that was my testimony.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  So the transcript is right?

MR. VELLONE:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you.

MR. VELLONE:  My second question relates to a line of inquiry that went to Mr. Tsimberg.  Mr. Tsimberg, you’ll recall, I think, that several of the intervenors asked this question and confirm that the utility data, the input data into your asset condition assessment, was not verified by Kinectrics; is that correct?

MR. TSIMBERG:  That is correct.

MR. VELLONE:  And I think the implication of that was that the utility data was no good that went to Kinectrics.  And I would just like to put to the utility itself, would you agree with that statement, that the data that was given to Kinectrics was somehow no good or of poor quality?

MS. BAILEY:  I would not classify the data as no good.

MR. VELLONE:  Why not?

MS. DUFF:  You make decisions based on it?

MS. BAILEY:  Yes, we make decisions based on it and we are continually trying to improve that data.  So from our last 2013 application, we have updated how we collect it, ensuring it's consistent across subject matter experts, ensuring that the criteria that's collected is enhanced to provide us a better view into how the assets are visually inspected.

We ensure that the people that are doing the inspections are qualified, they have the experience needed to do that inspection.

So in terms of the actual inspections and the data that we are collecting, the data is what we feel good.  There are areas of improvement, definitely.  We can do more pole testing and we are committing, as my boss’s boss just told me, committing to ensuring that we gather better data than we have in the past.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay, thank you.  And my third question -- maybe if we can pull up the VECC compendium at page 47?

I believe there was a lot of questions directed to you, Mr. Tsimberg -- this is from your asset condition assessment report -- on the average DAI and the data gap of the information that was provided.  And if I am reading this chart right --


MS. DUFF:  Sorry, what does the acronym DAI stand for again?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Data availability indicator.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.

MR. VELLONE:  Data availability indicator.  So if am reading this right, the DAI for wood poles is 100 percent and the data gap was medium high; is that right?

MR. TSIMBERG:  That is correct.  They are two different measures, but yes, you are correct.

MR. VELLONE:  And scrolling down the table, the DAI gets a bit lower.  For underground cables, it's 48 percent and the data gap is high; am I reading that right?

MR. TSIMBERG:  That's correct.

MR. VELLONE:  This is maybe for Mr. Mace or Ms. Bailey.  Did Thunder Bay Hydro take this information into account when utilizing the asset condition assessment that was produced by Kinectrics?  And if so, how?

MS. DUFF:  Could you please scroll up to the top of the page again?  Thank you.  I just want to see the headings.

MR. MACE:  So one of the outcomes, in my opinion -- at least this sticks in my mind during our discussions, was that part of the reason we did not necessarily support the underground cable activity replacement at the level that Kinectrics was suggesting is because of the data gap -- one of the reasons; not the only reason.  But it influenced, I believe, some of the mix of projects.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, those are my questions.

MS. DUFF:  I have to ask, sorry.  How can it have 100 percent of the data, but my data gap is -- can you scroll to the top of the page -- is medium high?  How does that work?  My indicators are 100 percent.

MR. TSIMBERG:  Is it okay if I explain?

MS. DUFF:  Please.  I forgot to ask it before.

MR. TSIMBERG:  What it means is let’s say we have data for -- in this case, we are talking about wood poles, distribution transformer …

MS. DUFF:  That's 100 percent, yes.

MR. TSIMBERG:  So what it means is all the poles have basically same data.  There was still data gaps; none of the poles have additional information.  But all the poles we looked at had the same data.  If some of the poles didn't have all the data that other poles had, then it would not be 100 percent.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  You sampled each pole, but not the information -- it's the information per pole that is the gap?

MR. TSIMBERG:  Right.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.

MR. VELLONE:  Those are my questions, Madam Chair.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  I am so sorry this has gone on.  It's been quite a long morning, but I did like the fact that we were able to complete the capital portion of this cross-examination.

Will Mr. Tsimberg be joining us after the break, Mr. Vellone?

MR. VELLONE:  If none of the parties have questions for him, there is no reason for him to stay.

MS. LEA:  There is the matter that Mr. Shepherd has requested a ruling from the Board with respect to the ACA.  I do not know if the Board panel or anyone else would need to have Mr. Tsimberg here for any ramifications of that ruling, or any questions related to it.

MS. DUFF:  I guess I am just poling -- I think we only had one witness panel.  I am just wondering did any of the parties have questions that they thought having Mr. Tsimberg available would be of assistance?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, none of my questions are specifically directed at Mr. Tsimberg.  I mean obviously, there is interaction between OM&A and capital, but I am not pursuing that in my line of questioning.  So I think we are in your hands.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Ms. Grice?

MS. GRICE:  I don't believe any of my questions …

MS. DUFF:  That's fine.  I take silence as golden.

MS. LAU:  No, thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  So that would be your choice then, Mr. Vellone, regarding -- I just wanted to poll the parties if there would be any specific questions.

We are going to break for 15 minutes.  It is approximately ten after, and that will take us to about 25 after.  We will rejoin then and then I understand, Mr. Shepherd, you will start with OM&A.  Okay, thank you very much.
--- Recess taken at 11:08 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:37 a.m.

MS. DUFF:  Please be seated.

I do wonder if anybody's listening at home, but it is part of what the Board offers, and it's public proceedings.  Just a moment, please.

ORAL DECISION AND REASONS:

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Vellone.  The Board has reached its decision with respect to the request from -- I don't know if it's a request -- from the issue raised by Mr. Shepherd. The Board does not require production of the live spreadsheet in order to accept the ACA as evidence in this proceeding.  We find the relevance and the usefulness to us of the ACA is not compromised by the lack of the live spreadsheet on the record in this proceeding.  I mean, the Board has already accepted Mr. Tsimberg as an expert witness in asset assessment, and he -- it was on that basis also that he worked for Kinectrics and the study was completed under his supervision.  So we will proceed on that basis.
Preliminary Matters:


The other preliminary matter that I understand that we said we would address was that of submission.  So the only other aspect is the Board agrees -- thank you very much for offering to file submissions on July 14th, and that date will apply to Staff as well.  And any date that anybody wants to file it earlier, that's great.  We will obviously accept it, but that is the deadline by which it's due.  And then two weeks from that date, Mr. Vellone, so 14 plus 14 would be the 28th of July.

Okay.  We have all five witnesses again.  Mr. Vellone, do you have any direct for this panel on OM&A?

MR. VELLONE:  No, Madam Chair, we did direct on OM&A yesterday.  Just for the benefit of the transcript, Mr. Tsimberg will remain on the panel for the balance of the day.  He's going to be here anyway, so we will just leave him up there.

MS. DUFF:  Oh, that's helpful, thank you.  Mr. Shepherd.
Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Witnesses, I wonder if you could turn to page 60 of our materials.  And Mr. Mace, you'll recall the discussion we had yesterday about whether -- about the rate of increase of your OM&A, and you expressed some surprise at the number of 4.4 percent, but here is Thunder Bay Hydro's confirmation that you're increasing from 2013 actual to 2017.  Your proposal is a $2.5 million increase, which is a compound annual growth rate of 4.4 percent per year.  Do you agree?

MR. MACE:  I'm sorry, I'm having trouble.  Right at the end you faded out.  Just the last part.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you agree that that's a compound annual growth rate of 4.4 percent.

MR. MACE:  2.41?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, 4.4 percent.

MR. MACE:  I am sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  2.5 million on your 2013 actual.

MR. MACE:  Oh, on 2013 actual?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. MACE:  Yes, I agree, 4.4.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And that's -- now, we heard the evidence yesterday and confirmed again today that you have operating savings in 2017 of $1.2 million because of efficiency initiatives; right?

MR. MACE:  I am sorry, what value did you just quote?  1-point --


MR. SHEPHERD:  1.2 million.

MR. MACE:  -- 2 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It was just raised in redirect.

MR. WILSON:  I'd say it's a combination of both, since the last cost of service and on a go-forward look on some of the --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, the figure of 1.2 million, is that an annual figure?

MR. WILSON:  No, I would not call that an annual figure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, then what is it?  Is it a cumulative figure and, if so, over how many years?

MR. WILSON:  It's presented as a total within my testimony.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That doesn't answer the question.  Try again.

MR. WILSON:  Maybe you want to ask me it differently.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Lookit, it's either an annual figure or it's a cumulative figure.  If it's a total --


MR. WILSON:  Well, if I can --


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- it's a total of something.

MR. WILSON:  Yeah, so if I can explain for you --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MR. WILSON:  -- what it is, I took the time to go through the cost-of-service application, all of our exhibits and our interrogatory responses, and went through and gleaned out of there each time we came across savings or efficiencies, some of which would have happened at one single instance in a year, some which have some perpetuity to it, and some which are future-looking.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what are we supposed to take from this number?

MR. WILSON:  Yeah, so what I think you take from this number is that we listened to our customers.  Cost being a priority for our customers was one of the highlights in the survey, and I wanted to demonstrate for the Board that we do take cost into consideration and we are very serious about it.  So I wanted to go through the application and for purposes of making it a little more simpler to find that, because we don't have a section dedicated to that topic, I was able to present that and say, here is evidence that we have.  In the past we listened, we listened today, and we will continue to listen in the future.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is 1.2 million of total efficiency savings over the period from, what, 2013 until the next rebasing?  Like nine years, ten years?

MR. WILSON:  I wouldn't categorize it completely like that, but I say there's certainly a bridge over between the two.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you got $150 million of OM&A in that period or so and your efficiency saving are 1.2?

MR. WILSON:  Right.  So if you go back and look at my testimony, I call it a sample list.  So I didn't -- I didn't glean out every single item from within the application itself.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right, okay.  I honestly don't understand what the $1.2 million means, but I don't want to spend time on it.

Let's go to your 2013 case.  You had approved $14.3 million of OM&A; right?

MR. MACE:  I am sorry, was that a question?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. MACE:  Was it approved 14.3 million?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. MACE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you spent, actually, 13.2 million.

MR. MACE:  Yes, we did.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact, you spent less than the amount approved for each of the next two year; right?

MR. MACE:  Yes, we did, and I think this is a good opportunity to address the 2013 and ask Ms. Speziale -- there are a number of factors that influence the presentation of the spent number versus the approved number.  I am going to ask her to step through some of these for the panel.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

MS. SPEZIALE:  The under-spend for 2013 budget to actual currently shows a million and 67.  Part of that I have alluded to in the evidence is a presentation issue of the affiliated costs.  104,930 plus 70,000 in administrative costs were presented on a gross basis in the cost-of-service budget.  And on 2013 actual to 2017, those costs have been netted against the revenues in OEB account 4220.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So does that mean that the 14.3 million figure is not done on the same basis as the 2017 figure?

MS. SPEZIALE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  So then why do you keep comparing 2017 to 2013 actual -- or 2013 Board-approved when you know it's on a different basis?

MR. MACE:  Actually, if Ms. Speziale could be allowed to continue.  We have a number of items related to that question, the issue between the 2014 -- 2013-approved and actuals.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, sorry, I asked a specific question.  You have been insisting throughout on comparing 2017 to 2013 Board-approved.  The evidence just given was the 2013 Board-approved is calculated on a different basis.  Isn't that right?

MS. SPEZIALE:  The 2014 14.3 million and 2013 Board-approved should be adjusted down to the 14.  I believe it's 125 --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Okay.

MS. SPEZIALE:  -- yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Please go on.

MS. SPEZIALE:  So there were some uncontrollable costs in the 2013 actual results as well.  An actuarial valuation was completed in January of 2014 and the costs for the 2013 year were substantially lower than our budget.  This was unknown and uncontrollable by Thunder Bay Hydro at the time of budget preparation.

The difference between the actuarial calculation, $270,000, 190,000 of which impacts OM&A, and of that 190,000, 112,000 relates to the amortization of an actuarial valuation gain. So in 2013, that number is included in expense for future benefits.  And under IFRS for 2014 and subsequent, that number is no longer included.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, that 190,000 that you are talking about in OM&A, it's already adjusted – no, it’s not adjusted in the 13 million 232?

MS. SPEZIALE:  No.  By adjusted, you mean --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Adjusted starting in 2014; is that what you just said?

MS. SPEZIALE:  2014 is on the IFRS basis, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So how does this relate to the difference between 2013 actuals and Board-approved?

MS. SPEZIALE:  The 2013 actual valuation for future employee benefit costs was $270,000 lower than the budgeted approved cost in 2013.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's because of a 2014 valuation?

MS. SPEZIALE:  The 2014 valuation was for the fiscal 2013 year-end.  The valuation gets done in the month following the fiscal year-end for the prior year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you go to page 63 of our materials? I am going to let you finish the question.  I just want to understand this one.

If you go to page 63, this is your appendix 2JC; and this is your most current one, right?  Is that right?

MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes, I assume that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So if you look at the line administrative and human resource, you are saying that line in the 2013 actuals has been reduced by 190,000 because of this valuation, right?

MS. SPEZIALE:  No, the future employee benefit costs are dispersed among all of the program in OM&A.  It doesn't just all fall into one program area.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So administrative and human resources doesn't include your OPEBs cost?  I thought it did; that's why I am asking.

MS. SPEZIALE:  I will have to check on that.  On this, on this...

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's not that important that we need to nail it down.

MS. SPEZIALE:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why don't you continue your answer?

MS. SPEZIALE:  Okay.  We have also had discussion over the past few days with respect to our 2013 unusual reliability year, unusual weather year.  We had a good -- an unusually good weather year, sorry.  And as has been discussed, the 2014 and '15 actuals for both the storm-related and trouble costs are $100,000 higher than the 2013 cost of service budget.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What line would they be in?

MS. SPEZIALE:  They are in -- on this line, they are in the operations overhead/underground maintenance.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So operations went down from 2013 to 2014 and '15?  So if 2013 was an unusually good weather year, then why didn't it go up in 2014 and 2015?

MS. SPEZIALE:  Overhead and underground maintenance, the 1.8 million, went down.  And then in 2014 and 2015 has gone up.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, sorry.  You are talking about maintenance.  You said operations; you meant maintenance, right?

MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes.

MR. MACE:  The overhead and underground maintenance line.

MS. SPEZIALE:  Maintenance, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it went down by 100,000 and then it jumped by 400,000?

MS. SPEZIALE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, go on.

MS. SPEZIALE:  So the variance, the bulk of that variance is related to storm, which is beyond our control as well.

The 2014 and '15 numbers reflect 100,000 more than the actual -- it's a component, I am not talking the full amount here.  The storm-related activities is 100,000 more than the Board-approved costs, than -- yeah, sorry.  The 2014 and 2015 actuals are both approximately $100,000 higher than the Board-approved budget for storm-related costs.

In 2016, as we mentioned, we saw a late November weekend storm.  Staff estimated a cost of approximately $230,000.  The 2013, '14 and '15 actual average storm-related activity for the three-year historical average there would be about 1.3 million, which was what the budget was for the 2013 amount.

So we are suggesting that the 2013 budget amount is more the weather normalized amount.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MS. SPEZIALE:  So that variance is approximately 350,000.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How is that 350,000?  It looks like 100 to me.

MS. SPEZIALE:  The average -- it's a component of the operation and maintenance underground.  It's the uncontrollable component within there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't understand.  I thought you were explaining why 2013 is lower than -- actual is lower than Board-approved.

MS. SPEZIALE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The difference is 100,000 in that line.

MS. SPEZIALE:  There are a number of variables that go in there.  I am talking about specifically a controllable, what's uncontrollable.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, go on.

MS. SPEZIALE:  We also had supervisory and engineering allocation errors that were corrected in the period.  Direct costs for supervisory were corrected to include construction superintendent and engineering time charged directly to capital, the allocation between capital and engineering -- capital and OM&A, sorry.

The error results in a 2013 budget to actual variance of $182,000.  So the foregoing addresses approximately 722,000 of the 892,000.

What's not included in there also is we had vacancies in 2013 that were unsustainable throughout the period; the engineering manager vacancies as well as the forestry vacancy, and that totalled approximately $101,000.

So that's, the total costs for operations and maintenance that were either uncontrollable or beyond  our -- unknown at the time of the budget preparation, $540,000 and $182,000 in the allocation between capital and OM&A.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I am going to ask you to turn to page 62 of our materials.  And this was sent to you yesterday.  And you have seen it before as well.

But the section 5 you only saw yesterday.  And if you want to look at page 39, that is your Board-approved for 2013, escalated by the IRM factor plus growth for the following four years.  Do you agree that those are reasonable numbers?

MS. SPEZIALE:  Sorry, can you repeat your question?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure, line 39.  It starts at 14.3 which is what was approved in 2013, right?

MS. SPEZIALE:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then it escalates it by the IRM escalator plus growth to get to 2016.  Do you agree that those are reasonable numbers?

MS. SPEZIALE:  I haven't verified any of these numbers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Will you accept them, subject to check?

MS. SPEZIALE:  I will not accept them subject to check.  It's a working model.  I see your numbers as calculated there, but I haven't verified anything.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it was sent to you yesterday. What's the point of sending it to you if you don't look at it?

MS. SPEZIALE:  There's a lot of information.

MR. VELLONE:  It's one thing to look at it.  It's another thing to check every calculation on the spreadsheet.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then why wouldn't you accept it subject to check?  It's not appropriate to sandbag counsel during a cross-examination when stuff is sent in advance.  This is not complicated.

The escalator is; it's made clear what it is.  It’s not like nobody has ever seen this before.  This is the Aiken model.  It's been in use for three years, and everybody's seen it lots of times.

MS. DUFF:  Did you provide her with the live spreadsheet --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Yeah, not long before the oral hearing.  Not long before the oral hearing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Look --


MS. DUFF:  We have an impasse in the sense that she is not going to speak about it.  How --


MR. VELLONE:  She can accept the numbers as put in front of her.  What my friend is asking her to do is confirm the calculations, which she can't do at this point.  She can accept all the numbers as on this page.  I see the number -- they are my friend's calculations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I asked her to accept it subject to check, and she said no.  If she will accept it subject to check we can move on.  I am going to put it in my argument anyway, because it's all public information.  I am just trying to put it to her.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  So perhaps just explain to her what the "subject to check" means and the ramifications for that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  So basically what I am saying is that this line 39, the spreadsheet explains how it's calculated.  I am telling you that these are calculated in the way that it says it's calculated, and you have the live model.  Will you accept that Excel has done this properly and -- for the purpose of this discussion, and if later you find out that's not correct you can say so; is that okay?

MS. SPEZIALE:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  So the reason I am asking that is because line 40 is your actual spending each year, and we took this directly from your Appendix 2JC, with adjustments because, of course, you have said that the OEB assessment and monthly billing are extra, but aside from that it's the same, and it shows that over those four years you collected from ratepayers 2 million more than you spent on OM&A; can you help me with that?

MS. SPEZIALE:  We actually haven't.  This doesn't translate into money collected.  Distribution revenue is what we collect from ratepayers.  There is also a shortfall in our revenues collected over the years.  So --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why?

MS. SPEZIALE:  -- this isn't -- why?  The shortfall in revenue, part of it is proration of revenue, part of it is forecasts.  Budget forecasts are -- load forecasts vary, and they will always vary from budget to actual, and over the course from 2013, the same time frame that you are comparing this, our shortfalls have accumulated approximately $1.1 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, you have been collecting less from ratepayers because your load forecast was wrong?

MS. SPEZIALE:  Not because our load forecast was wrong, necessarily.  A forecast is just that, and a forecast, and actuals will rarely agree to the forecast.  So what I am saying is that distribution revenues in Board-approved in 2013, 19,210, I believe is the number, if you apply the IRM escalation to that number, we have had a shortfall in revenues cumulatively over the same time period of 1.1 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You had lower billing determinants than you expected?

MS. SPEZIALE:  Combination of lower volumes as well as demand and --


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so because you had less money to spend, standard practice, you cut back on your budgets, right?

MR. MACE:  Well, in -- what Ms. Speziale has identified in 2013 is that there were impacts on the actual that were not budget cutbacks.  For example, we lost our engineering manager January of that year.  It took effectively almost all year to replace.  That wasn't a budget cutback.  I certainly cannot continue to operate without an engineering manager --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, I guess --


MR. MACE:  -- so there will be over the course of those years some reaction to revenue coming in lower.  So there were some cutbacks over the course of 2013 to 2016.  There is significant amount in 2013 of impacts that brought our actual expenses lower than allowed, which were not cuts.  We didn't cut, and we didn't -- we didn't over-ask, and we didn't cut, and we certainly didn't over-earn during those years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are asking for $15.7 million in 2017, which would then be escalated for five years.  Why shouldn't the Board assume that you are not actually going to spend that much just like last time?

MR. MACE:  Well, I will endeavour to spend it all.  And I will call it my critical error, because I am better at running a utility than managing regulation.  In hindsight, in 2013, I probably should have spent $100,000 in consulting money for something, recognizing that I have an engineering manager vacancy and I am going to be 100,000 over.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you think that's what the Board wants you to do?  Is that what you think this process is about?

MR. MACE:  No, I don't, but I think it's -- it's an unfortunate consequence of -- potentially of us having underspent in an area where we can't avoid it, like an engineering manager absence, flowing now through potentially to future years.  It's not a -- I was under-budget for a year.  It's certainly not a sustainable under-budget.  And my position would be if there is any intention of including it in some kind of base or baseline, it shouldn't be included.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You were under-budget for three years, Mr. Mace.

MR. MACE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And during that time the ratepayers are paying you money and you weren't spending it on OM&A.

MR. MACE:  And I wasn't also -- was not collecting to the level that we anticipated we would collect.  And we have, for example, we talked in my opening about our understaffing in finance over the course of those years.  We have been consistently underfinanced -- understaffed, to the point where we have added another body, and we added that body in 2015 -- 2016?

MS. SPEZIALE:  2016.

MR. MACE:  2016 in order to alleviate the workload to reduce that risk.

I am desperately hoping that adding that body and reducing the workload causes me to not be understaffed in the future in finance, because if you look through those years, there are periods where we were understaffed in positions in finance, and it's just not sustainable.

MR. SHEPHERD:  On the other hand, it was in your budget and you collected the money from ratepayers.

MR. MACE:  It was in the budget.  Because revenue was a shortfall, I didn't collect all the money from customers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Can you go to page 63 again, please.  And by my calculations what happened was that you reacted to circumstances, I guess, by reduce -- in 2013 by reducing your spend on community relations by 25 percent, maintenance by 9 percent, customer service by 10 percent, and administration by 7 percent.  Is that right?  Do those figures look roughly correct?

MR. MACE:  Well, so just replay them for me.  Community relations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Community relations you went from 253 down to 189.

MR. MACE:  I'm sorry, am I looking at the wrong one?  Oh, the total, yes, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  And customer service you went from 2.1 million to 1.9 million.

MR. MACE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mostly in billing costs, so you didn't need the billing costs that you said you needed.

MR. MACE:  Partially was likely due to vacancies, partially was due to continued efficiencies that we are trying to gain.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

MR. MACE:  We do recognize -- we recognize that -- and as I have stated before and Mr. Wilson has stated, we strive to become more efficient.  If we have an opportunity -- and I can't speak to whether that opportunity was specific to 2013, but I can give you examples.  We have had full-time staff in the customer service and billing departments retire who were at a higher wage level and have replaced them with part-time, lower-wage-level staff.

So as we are able to realize those efficiencies, we do it.  And that efficiency drives forward through the next cost-of-service period.  It's -- you know, I think the Board is telling you to do that when you have an IRM adjustment factor that has -- you have stretch factor and productivity factors.  You are supposed to be doing that.

So I can't definitively speak to, for instance, customer service, but I can tell you that if we had the ability -- and I know that over the course of the last few years, we have retired our higher-paid permanent full-time staff and replaced them with lower paid staff.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That sounds like ordinary course of business to me.

MR. MACE:  Exactly.  So that could be one those contributing factors to customer collection -- not that I budgeted higher than I needed, but that the opportunity for efficiencies came about and we realized them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I want to ask about a couple of the things in this programs table.  I am looking -- I am starting with how much did it cost to run the utility in 2013 actually cost, and how much are you saying it's going to cost this year.  That's the comparison I am doing, actual 2013, that's what you spent --


MR. MACE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- it's the most reliable information I have got.

So in operations, you are saying that your operating expenses are actually going to go down slightly over those five years about $34,000, one percent, right?

MR. MACE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now that's actually a mix of stuff.  Is any of that changes in accounting?  You mentioned, for example, a capitalization issue before.  Is that in operations?

MR. MACE:  So is it a change in accounting policy?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Or a change in how you accounted for something.  I want to know whether these are comparable numbers.

MS. SPEZIALE:  Part of the 182,000 I referred to is engineering and supervisory overhead allocation between OM&A and capital, roughly -- and that would be dispersed in the operations and the maintenance.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So where -- okay, all right.  So that explains why you aren't spending more on operations.

MS. SPEZIALE:  From 2013 to the 2017 test year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then in maintenance, on the other hand, you are increasing your maintenance spend.  You are proposing to increase your maintenance spend over those five years by 36 and a half percent, $1.25 million.

And it appears that it's mostly in overhead and underground maintenance and maintenance supervisory.  Can you help me understand that?

MR. MACE:  Well, again, I can identify two specific issue that we addressed.  So one is the proposed porcelain insulator change-out program, which would be in -- Cindy can correct me, but I believe overhead/underground maintenance.

MS. SPEZIALE:  Correct.

MR. MACE:  The second is the $150,000 increase in vegetation management.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's in tree trimming.

MR. MACE:  Which would be in tree trimming.

MS. SPEZIALE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  What about maintenance supervisory?  Why is that going up by 55 percent?

MS. SPEZIALE:  Maintenance supervisory consists of the... sorry.

MR. MACE:  Ms. Speziale is going to look at the details.  I can tell you that we have not added maintenance supervisory bodies.  But that didn't answer your question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You appear to have a fairly solid annual ramp-up on that, and that's what I am sort of trying to explore.

MR. MACE:  Sorry, solid annual?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ramp-up of that cost. In 2013, it was $743,000 and you are proposing to spend 1154 this year. That's seems -- that's a 55 percent increase.  It seems like a lot if you are not adding people.

MR. MACE:  Oh, and -- I don't believe I am mistaken, but we haven't added supervisory bodies so it's an allocation of costs from some account.  But bear with Cindy for a moment, if that's all right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Would you prefer to do that by way of undertaking?

MR. MACE:  I am sorry?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Would you prefer to do that by way of undertaking?

MS. SPEZIALE:  We probably went get to it right immediately.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's fine.  I don't want to put you on the spot; I just want to understand.

MS. LEA:  So do we have an undertaking?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Um-hmm.

MS. LEA:  All right.  That would be J3.2, please.  And can somebody reiterate for me exactly what it is that you are undertaking to do?

MR. SHEPHERD:  An explanation of the increase in the maintenance supervisory line from 2013 actual to 2017 proposed of 55 percent.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.2:  TO PROVIDE AN EXPLANATION OF THE INCREASE IN THE MAINTENANCE SUPERVISORY LINE FROM 2013 ACTUAL TO 2017 PROPOSED OF 55 PERCENT


MR. SHEPHERD:  And then I want to ask you about station maintenance.

I thought station maintenance was supposed to be going down because of your capital program.  But it seems like it dropped in 2013; you spent a lot less.  But then it's ramping back up and now it's more than 2013 Board-approved.

MR. MACE:  If I am not mistaken, and I could be -- but I believe that we add a part-time station maintenance person after having eliminated some contract services.  I don't believe that that would account for the entire 279.

I do know utility costs associated with stations went up, but I don't think I can give you any more detail than this.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought, Mr. Mace, that one of the reasons why you were doing 4 kV stuff was to reduce your station maintenance costs.

MR. MACE:  Exactly.  And it ends up being a step function.

At one point, we had two-and-a-half station maintenance electricians.  We determined that at some point -- I don't recall the specific year -- we were doing too much work on overtime with these stations maintenance electricians, because they also do PCB removal work.  So we went to three full timers.

What will happen eventually is you eliminate enough stations, you then sell the stations and as I think you're aware, we are currently trying to sell four or five vacant properties where stations have been eliminated.  But the step function isn't enough yet that we can drop a station maintenance electrician.

So we will, when we sell those properties, eliminate paying property taxes on those locations.  We should have already eliminated paying utilities on those locations.  But as of yet, we have not dropped the staff.

The other thing to keep in mind is that you still need to maintain the other stations and the other stations are getting older.  So if you are doing breaker rebuilds, you are doing transformer.

We had a -- I am going to check with Ms. Speziale.

So to give you an example of a cost, we got an oil leak a long time ago at one of our stations, Algoma Street station, and in the past couple of years we have uncovered through excavating residual oil, and we have spent a considerable amount of money remediating that soil.  That would attract itself to station maintenance.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. MACE:  So it's not a linear -- there are bumpy expenses.  The more stations you eliminate, yes, the cost will eventually come down.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that -- and tell me whether this is a fair characterization -- you spend the money on capital to convert your 4 kV, which is part of the reason is to get rid of stations.  And over time, you get rid of some of the stations and eventually there is a point at which you no longer need as many people to maintain stations because you have fewer stations, right?

MR. MACE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it means the ratepayers are paying for the capital cost now and, at some time in the future, will get the benefit of the lower maintenance costs?

MR. MACE:  That's -- yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The last thing on this page I want to ask you about is the line administrative and human resources, because that's the biggest increase from 2013 actual to 2017 proposed.  $775,000, a 20.6 percent increase.  That seems like a lot.  Can you help me with that?

MS. SPEZIALE:  That is primarily compensation changes, and it also includes the Board assessment fees, the $118,000 there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, maybe you could turn to page 64 of our materials.  And this shows that, although your revenue requirement in 2013 was based on 143 -- a little more than 143 FTEs, you actually only had 135 FTEs in 2013, and that was because of the vacancies you were talking about.

MR. MACE:  So part of that was because of vacancies.  Part of it was also because of settlement there was an unallocated settlement reduction in 2013.  So the 143.28 would have been the FTE prediction prior to reducing the budget for settlement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is not Board-approved then.

MR. MACE:  Some of that -- well, it was, but it was the -- the Board-approved settlement was a dollar reduction, which the utility then was to allocate out.  So the 143 -- Cindy can correct me if I am wrong -- the 143 would have been the FTEs represented in the cost-of-service application.

After settlement we were required to undertake a reduction to OM&A of about 387,000.  Some of that was realized by not hiring.

So we have a combination of vacancies, so we already talked about, you know, an engineering manager vacancy, and then we had planned hiring that we didn't do because of the OM&A reduction through settlement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And by this year you are still not back up to the 143 that the Board approved in 2013.

MR. MACE:  No, because my view of it is the Board did not approve 143, they approved a dollar amount less that settlement reduction.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, if they didn't approve 143 then why is it in your table?

MR. MACE:  That was the number -- the Board didn't approve any number.  That was the number in the cost-of-service application.  The cost-of-service settlement was the OM&A budget reduced by 300 and some-odd -- $87,000.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then are all of these compensation numbers in the 2013 Board-approved column, are they all wrong?

MS. SPEZIALE:  They are all what was in the Board-approved.  We didn't adjust them for where the vacancies actually --


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no, sorry, I'm asking --


MS. SPEZIALE:  -- where the reductions were applied.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- the -- I am asking the question, if there was a $387,000 reduction, that's not reflected in any of this; right?

MR. MACE:  So the 300 -- that's reflected in the $14.3 million OM&A total.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But not in the 13-million-328 that's listed on this table.

MS. SPEZIALE:  That's correct.

MR. MACE:  It was never allocated across any of the 2013 OM&A costs that were applied for in the application.  It was -- the settlement was approved by the Board as an unallocated reduction.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I guess from our point of view when we are looking at this to do argument, when the Board is looking at it to do a decision, we should ignore that column, 2013 Board-approved, because none of those figures are right; is that fair?

MS. SPEZIALE:  They are not adjusted figures for where the applied reductions took place.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Shepherd, please, can I ask a question?  So when I am looking at the evidence on -- for your OM&A table and it says 14.3 -- I am on -- can I find it on here?  Yes, on 63.  Where is the 300 and -- the $387,000 shown?

MS. SPEZIALE:  On that table, the 14.3, the budget reductions were applied across.  That number represents the revised budget --


MS. DUFF:  So that column is adjusted --


MS. SPEZIALE:  -- yes, correct.

MS. DUFF:  -- as a starting point, thank you.

MS. SPEZIALE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So just on this compensation thing now that we are -- well, I think the point's still true.  By my calculation, your Board-approved executive compensation was just under $185,000 a person.  Now, presumably it's slightly less than that after the allocation, but let's just say 185, but you actually paid 194,000 per executive in 2013.  It's the only compensation column that went up.

Can you help me with why that was true?  And I have included in page 61 your answer to an interrogatory if you want to refer to it.

MR. MACE:  So in 2013 -- well, the reasons are outlined in the response.  But in 2013, we undertook adjustments -- the Board undertook adjustments to my compensation.  We undertook adjustments to the VP's compensation to reduce our risk, our retention risk.

At that point we had reviewed comparable salaries.  My recollection is that the VPs and the president were all paid below the 25th percentile related to other utilities.  We had some significant risk of employee loss, executive team loss.  In order to mitigate that risk there were adjustments to compensation at the executive team level.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you got your decision from the Board, you knew you had this extra money, and you said, let's give the executives a raise?

MR. MACE:  Well, I didn't have extra money.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you seem to have enough to give the executives a raise.

MR. MACE:  Yes, we made an adjustment to executive salaries to reduce risk.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So all of your other expenses -- most of your other OM&A expenses for 2013 went down from the Board-approved except executive compensation went up, and I am asking you to -- I am giving you the opportunity to explain that.  Obviously it is going to come up in argument.

MR. MACE:  Sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am giving you the opportunity to explain.

MR. MACE:  Yeah, so I just did.  I can delve into it a little more.  My opinion was that I was extremely close to losing at least two members of the executive team and risking the ability to effectively manage the organization.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you weren't at risk of losing any of your management people or your non-union people.  Your non-union people, you reduced their average compensation by 13 percent.

MR. MACE:  In the past we have been at risk of losing union people.  We made adjustments, and I can't recall the year right now, but someone can fill me in.  We adjusted our IT personnel for the exact same reason.  They were comparatively underpaid.  We had a significant retention risk.  As a matter of fact, we were on the verge of losing nearly half of our unionized IT department.  We have also made adjustments in the past to our engineers for the same reason.  They were far beyond below market pay.  We had difficulty attracting, we were having difficulty retaining.

So those kind of adjustments were not limited to the executive team.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I was going to take you through the Aiken model, but given that you don't -- you are not that comfortable with it I am just going to deal with it in argument, but I do have one question on page 66 of our material.  And this is like a clean-up question, I guess.  You had forecasts of union costs, unionized employee costs, for 2016 bridge and 2017 test year, and then your settlement with the union was lower.

MR. MACE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And as a result your total compensation is overstated.

Have you adjusted your 2017 OM&A ask of this Board by $74,000 to reflect that?

MR. MACE:  So, first of all, the $74,000 number is total compensation.  Compensation is divided between our operating and our capital, so it's not specific to OM&A.  A portion of it is, but not all of it. 

It's a very onerous process to adjust them and refile them, because they flow through overheads; they flow to various capital and operating accounts.  Roughly speaking...  

MR. SHEPHERD:  About 25 percent of your compensation is capitalized, roughly -- no, sorry, it's 33 percent.

MR. MACE:  I think it's higher.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's on the previous page. 

MR. MACE:  So no, the OM&A expenses have not been reduced to reflect that lower settlement.  Yes, it would be appropriate, in my opinion, that they are.  I would have to verify the percentage.  I am not positive it's that, but...


MR. SHEPHERD:  But in the $50,000 range is an appropriate adjustment.

MR. MACE:  Somewhere in the probably 60 percent of that number range, I would say, yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Madam Chair, thank you for your patience.  Those are my questions.

MS. DUFF:  You are right on time.  Thank you very much, Mr. Shepherd, I appreciate that.  The Board was planning to break for lunch now for one hour. 

When we return, Ms. Lau, are you prepared to go next?

MS. LAU:  Yes, I am.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, that's great.  So we will break now until 1:30, thank you very much. 
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:30 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:33 p.m.

MS. DUFF:  Please be seated.

Procedural Matters:

Before you begin, Ms. Lau, I understand there is a procedural matter that you wanted to discuss, Mr. Vellone?


MR. VELLONE:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  Before we broke for lunch the Panel did have some questions for the witnesses, one of which resulted in an undertaking, J3.1.  I believe the witnesses have had an opportunity over the lunch hour to look at some of the information and may be able to give at least a partial answer to the undertaking.


MS. DUFF:  Oh, great.


MR. VELLONE:  So why don't we try to see what we can do now and proceed from there.


MS. DUFF:  Yeah, it's always a problem with these undertakings that are filed afterwards, and --


MR. VELLONE:  Let's get as many done as we can now.


MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Great, thank you.


MR. MACE:  So Madam Chair, so we have talked to -- Ms. Bailey has talked to her people back at the office and has what I think is probably useful information related to the completion state of those two -- you were asking about jobs that had overlap from 2016 to 2017.


MS. DUFF:  Correct.


MR. MACE:  So -- and Karla can correct me if I am wrong -- there are two only, and that's the Dewe-Rita and the Rita -- Black Bay-Dewe.  And Ms. Bailey has additional information on the current status of the jobs.


MS. BAILEY:  So those projects, the pole setting was complete in 2016.  Now, the projects continued in the winter, so January -- or January to now, and they are approximately 85 to 90 percent complete at this stage.


MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  And those are the only two -- so of the 4 kV conversion projects that are still listed in two-17 those are the only two that were started in two-16?


MS. BAILEY:  Yeah, in terms of ones that were in construction, so we have some that were in design stage that would be sitting in WIP, but the design is, you know, approximately 20- to $30,000 versus construction is typically these ones were 650- to $750,000 for the pole-setting portions.


MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. VELLONE:  Does that get us what we need on the record?  Should we strike the undertaking or leave it in there and let them file it later?


MS. LEA:  There was more to the undertaking.  The actual spend for those periods of time was also sought by Ms. Duff, I believe.


MR. VELLONE:  You're saying total amounts actually spent in 2016; is that correct?


MS. LEA:  So up to current, I thought was the undertaking.


MS. DUFF:  So it's the Black Bay-Dewe and the Dewe...


MS. BAILEY:  And the Dewe-Rita.


MS. DUFF:  Okay.  I am looking at Board Staff's compendium, page 1, this listing where you have your priority rankings.  It's actually 143, I think, of your DSP, so those are the ones I was looking at, so I see Dewe-Rita, I say Black Bay-Dewe.  What about the Cumming-Brodie voltage conversion, the Donald-Mountdale?


MS. BAILEY:  So none of those other four, the Cumming-Brodie, Donald-Mountdale, MacDougall-Court, or Finlayson-Brodie, none of those projects had started construction, so again, design was complete, so they would have been sitting as work in progress due to the design and potentially some staking being done, but -- in 2016, but no construction has begun on those.


MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Well, that's a nuance I hadn't appreciated.  So are these projects really started yet?  Like, other than just design?


MS. BAILEY:  Finlayson-Brodie has started this year, so 2017.  I would have to check on the other three, where they are at this year.


MS. DUFF:  The reason I was asking was -- originally was, how are you reacting to the information you now had from your asset condition assessment?  When did you alter your spending patterns and alter your plans?  So, okay, I understand the two that are 85 percent complete, but there's a number that are just at the design phase, and you are still proceeding with a three-year financial commitment?  Like, that's really what I am asking you.  So if you want to take some time, but that is -- you said it's altered your spending, but it doesn't seem to really have altered your spending for a few more years.  You are committing to three-year commitments still now that you have that asset condition assessment saying that that 4 kV isn't, from an asset condition perspective, I don't know, necessary.  I don't know what the word is.  I am asking you to speak to that, how you reacted to the information and your timeliness of response.


MR. VELLONE:  Ms. Duff, I do believe there is evidence on the record.  I can assist to bring the witnesses to the evidence that would answer your question, or you can let them try to figure it out.  It's up to you.  I would have to point them to evidence.


MS. DUFF:  If that's helpful, sure.


MR. VELLONE:  Ms. Bailey, there are specific project summaries for each of the four projects that Ms. Duff is asking about.  Perhaps you could explain at a high level the rationale for why each of those four projects are being proposed to proceed in the test year, because I think there is an assumption that the asset condition assessment didn't support those projects proceeding, when I think when you get into the weeds there is different results.


So perhaps you could speak to each of those four.


MS. DUFF:  Well, I can -- I mean, I have reviewed them.  Why don't I go back and do that.  I don't want to take the time right now.  Okay.  I will review that while we are continuing on, because we're -- time is of the essence, so, thank you, I will go back to the project descriptions.


Ms. Lau.


MS. LAU:  Thank you, Madam Chair, good afternoon.  I would like to enter as an exhibit VECC's compendium specific to the issue of OM&A.


MS. LEA:  That would be K3.1, please.  And we have copies.  Do you have copies on the dais?


MS. DUFF:  Yes.  

EXHIBIT NO. K3.1:  CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM OF VECC.  


Cross-Examination by Ms. Lau:

MS. LAU:  Thank you.  I first have just a couple of requests for updated 2016 actuals, if you do have those available.  The first is at page 3 of VECC's compendium, and that is Table 4-6.


MS. SPEZIALE:  I don't have the breakdown.  If you require the breakdown I will have to get that, but I have the total.  I have the total variance from what was shown there as 2016 projections, are within $42,000 of the actual.


MS. LAU:  Okay.  Thank you, and would it be quite onerous or time-consuming to gather the breakdown and provide that as well?


MS. SPEZIALE:  It may take a bit of work.


MS. LEA:  Would a breakdown in the categories at Exhibit 4 -- Table 4.1 be sufficient for those purposes?


MR. VELLONE:  Sorry, can we get Table 4.1 on the screen?


MS. LEA:  It's Exhibit 4, page 7.  Exhibit 4, page 7.  Thanks.


MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes, that one should be doable.


MS. LAU:  Okay, thank you.  And --


MS. LEA:  So that would be an undertaking then.  So we have the total variance already provided.  So the undertaking is to provide the Table 4.1 with the 2016 actuals in the categories as listed there.  

UNDERTAKING NO. J3.3:  TO PROVIDE THE TABLE 4.1 WITH THE 2016 ACTUALS IN THE CATEGORIES AS LISTED THERE.


MS. LAU:  I am also going to put two more tables to you and you can tell me if it's a little too time-consuming to update them.  The first is on page 11, and it is Table 4-9.


MS. SPEZIALE:  That one would be the one that would be more onerous.  The actual -- yes, that one would be a lot of work.


MS. LAU:  Okay.  That's all right then.  You don't need to provide that. And the other one is page 33, Table 4-12. 

MS. SPEZIALE:  There may be a bit of work involved there as well.

MS. LAU:  Okay.  That's all right then. 

MS. SPEZIALE:  Okay. 

MS. LAU:  So SEC did earlier already canvass questions related to your historical spending trends, so I won't go through those again. 

However, I did want to add that the Board-approved total for OM&A for 2013, that was not the number which Thunder Bay Hydro had originally proposed in its application; is that right?  I believe it was a number that was approved following a settlement.

MS. SPEZIALE:  That's correct.

MS. LAU:  Okay.  So Thunder Bay Hydro did originally request a higher number than that which was approved? 

MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes.

MS. LAU:  Okay, thank you.  So what you had originally forecast was actually quite significantly higher than what you ultimately spent in 2013? 

MS. SPEZIALE:  Can you clarify your question, please?

MS. LAU:  As to what you had forecast in your 2013 application, it was actually significantly higher than your actual 2013 spend on OM&A?  Like it was even higher than kind of is in the table.

MR. MACE:  The 2013 OM&A request in the cost of service application was higher than 14.3 million by 387,000.  That was the settlement amount, so the original request application was reduced by 387 to end up at 14.3.  And we have discussed there were some adjustments likely required to that 14.3 to make it an apples-to-apples comparison to expenses.  And then of course we have also talked about other uncontrollable under spends in 2013. 

MS. LAU:  Okay, thank you.  Now, Mr. Shepherd did ask you about your spending, I believe, in 2013, '14 and '15, so I won't go back to that. 

However, if we can turn to year 2016, and we just have the bridge year numbers here, and which is provided on page 8 of our compendium, there was quite a surge in that specific year in your OM&A costs, is that correct?

MR. MACE:  There were items that I identified in my opening evidence that were one-time items.  There were two sections of them; one-time items that do not recur and were one-time, and other items such as regulatory obligations that started to occur in 2016 and flowed to 2017.  So we did outline -- and I will review them again if you'd like.

MS. LAU:  If you could briefly, yes, thank you.

MR. MACE:  Briefly, subject to my being reminded of the other ones. 

So $168,000 related to cost of service application and customer engagement, which of course would be over and above 2015.  One-time legal fees with respect to transferring properties, renovations to the 50 -- sorry that was 50,000.  $50,000 for renovations to the operations centre and additional 118,000 for operation centre building repairs, which do not flow forward and were not in the previous year.  $40,000 in training related to our SCADA upgrade that were one-time training costs.  And additionally, in terms of costs that we started to incur that there flow through into the test year, we started to move to monthly billing near the end of the year, so $65,000 for that transition. 

Approximately $60,000 as we commence smart meter sampling.  Smart meters went in a number of years ago so there had been no historic meter sampling cost in our budget, but certainly something we are required to do by Measurement Canada. 

The bridge year compared to 2015, if you are looking at that, also included $116,000 for fire retardant clothing.  That type of expense, the FR clothing for our trade staff, occurs every other year.  So if you are looking at it, it's not '15 but it would be '16.  As well, $12,000 for collective bargaining as 2016 was a collective bargaining year. 

MS. LAU:  Sorry, so that $116,000 amount would not appear in the 2017 test year, is that correct?

MR. MACE:  No, it does not flow forward to 2017. 

MS. LAU:  Okay. 

MR. PASTIRIK:  So those costs -- I was looking at actually over the lunch hour again, looking at your opening comments.  Are those costs that will not recur, or will some of them recur in 2017?

MR. MACE:  So the first group of them will not recur -- well, I shouldn't say that.  There is $168,000 for cost of service and customer engagement.  So the annualized amount that appears in the test year is roughly 53,000, because it's annualized over the cost of service period.  So some of it appears, but not to the same degree.

The legal fees are a one-time that will not flow to the test year. 

The renovations occurred and will not flow forward.  The 40,000 SCADA was done and will not flow forward. 

In contrast, $65,000 that is the start of the cost associated with monthly billing will flow forward and are actually 221 in the test year.  The OEB fees assessment of 118,000 is a new cost in the test year for us. 

So there's two types of cost there.  Most of them -- a clump of one-time costs which, working from memory now, I think it was 441,000 that do not flow through. 

MR. PASTIRIK:  Okay.  Because I was just trying to think -- like for comparison purposes, if you are looking at 2016 and 2017, if you want to look at the differences, any one-time costs would compare out of that comparison, right?

MR. MACE:  Yes.

MR. PASTIRIK:  And if there is anything that's kind of one time but is going to into '17, I am trying to do a comparison of ’16 over ’17.

MR. MACE:  And there are some of those; the monthly billing that does make that comparison difficult.  But the monthly billing costs, the costs of service.

MR. PASTIRIK:  Right.  Of course, if you have any new costs in 2017 that would be something that's a brand new cost that didn't occur in '16, it would be useful to have that, too.

MR. MACE:  Yes.  We outlined in my opening the four porcelain insulator change-outs for 100,000, forestry increase, 150, the apprentice and system control 80,000, and the finance staff for 108,000, I believe.

MR. PASTIRIK:  Thank you very much.

MS. LAU:  So do those four costs you just mentioned explain the significant increase in 2017 because if the 2016 bridge year includes one-off costs you are still -- the total OM&A cost which you are requesting for 2017 is still higher than 2016, which means there would be -- I think it's about 300,000 more.  So there would be even higher ongoing costs than in 2016 which included the one-off costs or the one-time costs. 

So is that explained by these kind of four additional cost component which is you just listed?

MR. MACE:  The last four cost components do explain some of that.  The other explanation is, for instance, the monthly billing.  So you have 221,000 now in the test year where -- and we are required to do it, where previously there was approximately 65,000 in the bridge year.  So that's a significant increase.

There is the OEB fees assessment of 118,000; that's a significant increase.

MS. LAU:  Okay, thank you.

MR. PASTIRIK:  I think you do have that laid out in your evidence as well.

MR. MACE:  Yes, I laid it out in my initial comments and it's laid out in the evidence, yes.

MR. PASTIRIK:  Okay, thank you.

MS. LAU:  Okay.  So let's turn now to kind of a further breakdown of the costs and we can start with customer billing, which you have just mentioned. 

If you could turn to page 12 of VECC's compendium?  So according to your response to interrog 4-VECC-30 -- and I believe you actually just reiterated this -- it appears that the total incremental cost for customer billing should only be about 221,000; is that right?  This is comparing 2015 actuals to the --


MR. MACE:  In the -- yeah, in the test year, the incremental cost we estimate to be 221,000.

MS. LAU:  Okay.  I believe if you turn to page 11 and look at Table 4-9, the increase you have requested is closer to 289,000.  Is there a reason for that difference?

MR. MACE:  Sorry, part of the variance is increased cost, wage costs, you know, the -- primarily unionized but management staff wage increases, and I don't have that number handy.  Overall postage increase costs.  Tim, anything else?

MR. WILSON:  Those are the components.

MR. MACE:  Yeah, those are primarily the costs.  There was an added half-body to billing, but that's associated with the cost, the move to monthly billing.

MS. LAU:  Okay.  And that half body is already included in the 221,000 total count, though, and that's --


MR. MACE:  Yes, per the table on page 12 of your compendium you see a half FTE billing clerk?

MS. LAU:  Yes.

MR. MACE:  That's the half-body.

MS. LAU:  Yes, okay.  But the additional 70,000 difference is due to just wage adjustments, you are saying?

MR. MACE:  Wage adjustments, postage rate increases, software licensing increases, those kind of costs, small amount likely for rent.  We pay rent to the landlord.

MS. LAU:  And that would be included in customer billing?

MR. MACE:  There will be those costs in customer billing, yes, absolutely.

MS. LAU:  Okay.  Thank you.  I am going to turn now to tree-trimming.  Everyone's favourite issue.  So it appears you are requesting an increase to your tree-trimming budget by about 125,000; is that correct?

MR. MACE:  We are specifically requesting an increase to the contracted tree services, the vegetation management, of 150,000.

MS. LAU:  Okay.  And I am looking at Table 4-9 on page 11.  So how does that extra, like, 25,000 fit in there, sorry?

MR. MACE:  So there is a request for an additional 150,000 in outside contracting for tree-trimming, which would be a line item that rolls up into that 888,000.

MS. LAU:  Okay.

MR. MACE:  I can't identify where the other 24 -- 26,000 is right now.

MS. LAU:  Okay.  That's all right, thank you.

MR. VELLONE:  Can I make just a small interjection here?  I believe the materiality threshold for Thunder Bay Hydro is in excess of $100,000; is that right?

MS. SPEZIALE:  119.

MR. VELLONE:  So I am just hoping that we can limit questions to variances at least that are considered material in this application, because the witnesses have not prepared down to the nth degree of detail.

MS. LAU:  Okay.  That's fine.  I'm sorry, there just seemed to be an inconsistency in that table I was hoping to clarify, but thank you.

So I believe one of the reasons you had given for this additional tree-trimming budget was originally it was a new by-law from the city; is that correct?  Which ended up looking more like a memo, which is provided on page 15 of VECC's compendium.

Is there anything you would like to say about that?

MS. BAILEY:  I would like to speak to that.  So the increases in tree-trimming are not solely related to these -- this memo from the city.  What this memo from the city was illustrating was that there has been an increase in costs associated with tree-trimming due to the fact that where Thunder Bay Hydro is requiring to cut on city-owned lands or right-of-ways, the trees, we are no longer allowed to top those trees, which is at a lower cost.  The city is requiring us to take the full tree out at the base, so that has increased our cost since this memo came out from the city.

MR. MACE:  So for clarity, the memo is a clarification from the city on an existing by-law.  Over the course of the last couple of years, the city started enforcing provisions of the by-law related to trimming of coniferous trees, and those are the ones that we can no longer top.  We had had discussions with the city over the course of 2015 and 2016 debating and pushing back on this, because it is a -- it's a cost increase to us, and at the end of the day it means we can't trim as much as cost-effectively.  But they do have the existing by-law, which they are now enforcing as far as that topping.

MS. LAU:  So there is a by-law now.

MR. MACE:  And if I am not mistaken, I believe the by-law is referenced in --


MS. BAILEY:  It is in the memo here.

MR. MACE:  It is in the second paragraph, Thunder Bay By-law 008-2005.

MS. LAU:  Okay, thank you.  And was that a new by-law?

MR. MACE:  No, it's 2005, but --


MS. LAU:  Oh, sorry, that's right, thank you.

MR. MACE:  -- it's my -- I believe it's a case of the city started to interpret it and defined what best practices related to forestry are, determined that for coniferous trees best practice is to not top them, and started to enforce that, and that is the issue we have with that.

MS. LAU:  Okay.  Thank you.  And are you able to quantify approximately then how much an additional cost really this memo or this additional enforcement would incur -- or you would incur?

MS. BAILEY:  It would be very difficult, so it varies depending on where we are in the city and where we are cutting.  So where we can be in the right-of-way, the city-owned right-of-way, we are, but sometimes we are in our own easements where we have the availability to cut in accordance with Thunder Bay Hydro's standards versus the city.

So we don't have per se a map of the city that shows density of trees related to property ownership where we could correlate that for you.

MS. LAU:  Okay.  I am just trying to get a sense, are there other factors then that contribute to this additional $125,000 increase which you are requesting?

MS. BAILEY:  Yes.  I believe we included it into a -- into the interrogatory response, and you may have it in your compendium here.  Yes, page 16, 17, through to 24.  You have included the response, where we showed how we are attempting to meet the minimum seven-year cutting requirements in the rural areas of our city.

So in those rural areas the density of trees is very high.  Of course, that tracks a higher cost to forestry operations.  Those are typically our rural radial feeders where we have seen outages, so we are looking to do forestry operations in those rural radial feeders, and for the cost that we now have a better handle on, that is why we are expecting increases to meet our minimum seven-year clearing cycle.

MS. LAU:  Okay, thank you.  And if we do -- it sounds like you are already there, but if we do turn to pages 24 to 25, where you set out that analysis, I believe you conclude that Thunder Bay Hydro should spend about $750,000 a year on tree-trimming?

MS. BAILEY:  Yes, at the bottom there, 748,228.

MS. LAU:  And that's with a 10 percent contingency, yes?

MS. BAILEY:  Yes.

MS. LAU:  And can you explain what this 10 percent contingency is meant to capture or anticipate?

MS. BAILEY:  The contingency is meant to capture a fluctuation potentially in contractor costs.  That's something that's uncontrollable, as well as other costs associated with that, so if there's a higher than expected density of trees in areas that are expected. 

MS. LAU:  Okay, thank you.  But if we turn back to page 11, table 4-9, I believe Thunder Bay is proposing in its 2017 test year a tree trimming budget of 888,000.  Can you explain that difference? 

MS. BAILEY:  Yes.  So the proposed amount that we were just talking about in the report is strictly our contractor costs. 

This OM&A program table includes our forestry coordinator, so his wages and benefits.

MS. LAU:  Just that one person?

MS. BAILEY:  Just the one person, yeah. 

MS. LAU:  Thank you.  So staying on Table 4-9, it appears as though in some years your tree trimming costs actually decreased.  So I am comparing, for instance, the 2013 approved number to the 2013 actual, and then the 2015 actual to the 2016 bridge year. 

Yet you are asking for quite a significant increase in your budget.  How do you kind of reconcile your request with the historical data? 

MS. BAILEY:  So the first point we would like to make is that -- it was talked about earlier, but the forestry coordinator position was vacant for a period of time; I believe that was in 2013.  That would largely explain the cost decrease in that year. 

In terms of other fluctuating costs, we see a variance in large storm clean-up as it relates to forestry.  So that would explain potential differences where it may have decreased from 2012 to '13.

However, when I look at the costs that we submitted in 4-AMPCO-20, that broke down our contractor costs from ’13 through to '16, we have seen rising forestry costs year over year related to all of our forestry activities. 

MS. LAU:  Would it be possible to bring that response up? 

MS. BAILEY:  It was 4-AMPCO-20.  So this table below is strictly our tree forestry contractor costs.  So the request from the interrogatory was to break down into our key work activities.  So the top line, maintenance, is our maintenance activities, which are discussed herein, as well as large storm clean-up, capital clearing, and then customer work.  So customer work is when a customer calls in and says the branches are encroaching on their line, and we are required to come and cut that away. 

So you can see from '13 to '16 the costs have been increasing. 

MS. LAU:  Okay, thank you.  And so the -- okay, I am just going the leave that and move on, thank you. 

Going back to page 11, still sticking with table 4-9, I am going to come back to station maintenance, which was already reviewed by Mr. Shepherd before the lunch. 

But if I could add, so in 2013, the Board approved an amount of 249,000 for station maintenance costs, and yet it appears Thunder Bay Hydro never spent that amount in the years where we have actual data.  Could you explain that?  I believe that's 2013, 2014 and 2015. 

MS. SPEZIALE:  If you take a look at the operating costs for stations operations in the above line, the 2013 Board-approved is 449; the actual was 594.  And then the station maintenance, so it's all one department, just an allocation of the resources.  Station maintenance was 249 and the actual was 112. 

So if you look at the sum of the two, the variance is not as significant. 

MS. LAU:  Okay, thank you.  And then can you explain that split in the 2017 test year, just so I can get a better understanding of how you're allocating costs? 

MR. MACE:  I am sorry, just to be clear, what was your question? 

MS. LAU:  I believe, Ms. Speziale, you had said that that amount which was approved under station maintenance had been kind of reallocated to station operations in the 2013 year.  Am I correct, or am I incorrect?

MR. MACE:  Just for clarity, your stations -- so your stations have a certain staff.  Sometimes their costs are allocated to doing things which would be called operating, and sometimes they are allocated to things that would be called maintenance.

So if you sum the two of them for 2013 budget and 2013 actual, you will see that the sum of the two are relatively close.

So in 2017, if you were looking to see what the total amount of that station's function is, it would be the 4467 and 279.

MS. LAU:  Okay.

MR. MACE:  And it's a prediction of during the year how much of the station electrician's activity and how much of the costs associated with the station are operations and how much are maintenance.

MS. LAU:  Okay, and that fluctuates year on year; is that what you are saying?

MR. MACE:  Yeah.  If you dig a significant -- we talked about remediation at one of our stations.

MS. LAU:  Um-hmm.

MR. MACE:  So that would be maintenance.  And if we do outside work on the steel structure, replace switches, rack outbreakers, that's maintenance.  Operating would be regular, routine costs.

MS. LAU:  Okay, thank you.  How would you forecast that then, say for the year 2017? 

MR. MACE:  The split between two?

MS. LAU:  Yeah, the split, because it's hard to keep track of year on year what's being -- it is just hard to compare this way.

MR. MACE:  The split would likely be provided by the  supervisor and the superintendent, who would know if there are say -- say there was a significant switch gear replacement scheduled for a given year, then they would know there is going to be a split for that year. 

It's a prediction.  It's budget, and budget is a forecast.  But it's based on what they know about their work plan going forward for the year.

MS. LAU:  Okay, thank you. Turning to page 33 of VECC's compendium, would you be able to explain first in Table 4-12 and the number of employees why there are numbers just such as .86 or .65.  I am just trying to get an idea of how you calculate that.

MS. SPEZIALE:  In the FTE numbers?

MS. LAU:  Yes.

MS. SPEZIALE:  That's simply a function of the hours by employee.  So total hours divided by their base hours of work.

MS. LAU:  Okay.

MR. MACE:  So for example if you -- the tradesmen work 2,080 hours, so if you accumulated, you know, 10,000 overtime hours and you divide that by 2,080, you'd get the full-time equivalent years, and it wouldn't be a whole number, it would be a decimal number, so that's why those are that way.

MS. LAU:  Okay, thank you.  I was just seeking some clarification on that.

So the numbers I will be using will be -- or will be putting to you will be excluding the overtime numbers.  So in 2013 the approved number of FTEs was about 138, which was what we had calculated.  And the 2013 actual FTEs was about 129.

Can you just explain this kind of nine FTEs difference?  I think you had touched on it before.

MR. MACE:  So we had touched on the fact that coming out of cost-of-service settlement there was a budget adjustment to be made, which is not reflected in the approved numbers that you just reiterated.

So the bulk -- a lot of that $387,000 -- sorry, here it is.  Some of it was bodies that we didn't hire.  Some of it was summer-student hires that we had curtailed during the year.  That was part of the allocation of the cuts.  One of it was internal attrition.  We had eliminated our cashiering function where you actually physically take cash and eliminated that job, so an efficiency gained.  And -- sorry.  Oh, and we had an absence for almost a year of the engineering manager, which we talked about before.  So those are most of that.

MS. LAU:  Okay, thank you.  And on page 36 of the compendium, this is in response to 4-VECC-35.  Thunder Bay Hydro mentions a power line succession strategy.  Can you just briefly explain that?

MR. MACE:  In 2013 we faced the issue of -- I talked in my opening comments today about how we had addressed power line succession, our other succession challenges, and we now have a succession challenge in our system control.  So we had in the application the hiring of a number of apprentices to deal with power line succession issues.

The settlement caused a revision to our strategy where we did not hire to the extent that we had originally planned and anticipated in the application.

MS. LAU:  Okay, thank you.  I am going back now to page 33.  So I'm just trying to figure out some inconsistencies here.  So it would appear from our calculations that, comparing the 2013 actuals and your 2017 test year, Thunder Bay Hydro is proposing to add one management position, 2.5 union positions, and one non-union position.  Does that sound right to you just based on Table 4-12 here?

MR. MACE:  We are -- we have added already, but -- so it's proposed in our application -- a finance clerk, which is a management position, a system control operator -- oh, sorry, non-union position.  System operator, which is a union position.  You are comparing to 2013 -- sorry, 2013 to 2017?

MS. LAU:  That's right.

MR. MACE:  So we had also hired a GIS position, technician.  But behind that we also have across those years, years where you had vacancies, years -- you know, so it would be difficult to exactly reconcile.

MS. LAU:  Understood.  And that may explain why on pages 41 to 42 of our compendium it would seem that you have added eight full-time positions since 2013?

MR. MACE:  Yeah, that would be -- adding those up wouldn't be accurate.  You have to do more of a reconciliation.

MS. LAU:  Okay, thank you, that's helpful.  Now, just a follow-up to one of Mr. Shepherd's questions.  On page 44 he had raised the issue of compensation overestimation, and you had explained that.  I am just wondering what number of FTEs was used to calculate that 74,000 number you provided here.

MS. SPEZIALE:  I don't have that number.  So we have calculated it -- we would have calculated on the one-thirty-eight-five-five in the 2017 column.

MS. LAU:  Okay, thank you, that completes my questions regarding the issue of OM&A.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much, Ms. Lau.  Ms. Grice, are you prepared to proceed?

MS. GRICE:  Yes, I am, thank you.  So AMPCO has prepared a compendium.  We can give that a number, please?

MS. LEA:  K3.2, please.  
EXHIBIT NO. K3.2:  CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM OF AMPCO


MS. DUFF:  Well, I had one compendium.

MS. GRICE:  That was my capital -- I have a  separate --


MS. DUFF:  Oh, it didn't have a label, okay.  Thank you.


Cross-Examination by Ms. Grice:

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  So if we can turn to page 4, please, of AMPCO's compendium.  And we have seen this table a few times, but I just wanted to highlight where the focus of my cross is going to be, since many of these items have been canvassed by others.  But I wanted to talk specifically about your overhead and underground maintenance budget and your tree-trimming budget.

So if we can just look quickly at your overhead/underground maintenance, and if we go to the columns -- or the column on the right-hand side.  The evidence is showing that that category of spending has increased 405,468 from 2013 Board-approved and $502,076 from 2013 actuals.  Would you agree with that?

MR. MACE:  So you are looking at overhead/underground maintenance line?

MS. GRICE:  Yes.

MR. MACE:  So I do agree with that.  However, the same as with stations, you really need to consolidate under operations the overhead and underground operations line with the overhead and underground maintenance line.  Again, it's the same staff allocated to the system.  Sometimes what they are doing is maintenance and sometimes what they are doing is operating, and it shifts from year to year.

So, you know, roughly speaking, I am going to say we have gone from 3 million and a bit to, where is it...  Well, sorry, easier -- the variances are plus 400 and minus 265, so relatively close.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  And based on our discussion today my understanding is $100,000 of that increase is for insulators, so I just wanted to talk a little bit about insulators, because nobody else has yet.

So if we can turn to page 11 of the compendium, please.  So it says here that Thunder Bay Hydro is planning to maintain insulators, glass cutouts, and arresters, because you are currently experiencing a higher failure rate.

So I just wanted to talk a little bit.  Your historical practice, my understanding, is to maintain insulators on a reactive basis, and so that this application is a change, and it's now being proposed as a proactive maintenance program; is that correct?

MR. MACE:  Essentially, yes. So the issue that we have -- and it's predominantly with glass stand-off insulators, but also some arresters and other items -- is that these glass insulators that were installed through the '70s and into the '80s, porcelain glass, are known through manufacturing defects to crack, get moisture in them, freeze, break.  And when they break, they break sometimes catastrophically, sometimes harmlessly.

We have seen -- you know, sometimes you will get a floating face and we catch it on time and nothing happens.  But often, you know, one insulator breaks, the conductor comes down on the other phase.  We have seen both reliability issues and because of phase to phase conductor customer damage, some significant customer damage in the past, we have historically been replacing these two ways reactive basis ways.  On a reactive basis when they

break -- well, three ways.  A reactive basis when they break as part of system renewal as they come up in areas where we are replacing, and then in some case where we are doing some pole replacements or work in the area and it's economical to do say the next three or four poles if scheduling time, traffic, et cetera, allows, we will do some of that. 

What we are proposing now as we continue to see these insulators break, we are proposing a program where a qualified contractor goes out and now that's they are doing basically $100,000 worth of these change-outs a year. The plan would be to focus on the areas that system renewal is not going to address in the near term.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  Can we just turn to page 15 -- no I am sorry, it's page 13 of the AMPCO compendium, and I am looking at 4-AMPCO-9 – I’m sorry, my numbers landed right on top of your logo.

MR. MACE:  Page 13, 4-AMPCO-19?

MS. GRICE:  Yes, 4-AMPCO-19, thank you.  So we asked here the number of asset by asset type that you are planning on replacing in 2014.  Would you just be able to give me a sense of how many glass insulators you have on your system in total?

MS. BAILEY:  Yes, so we have approximately 2,800 insulators in the system.  Of those, 2,000 of are not existing 4 kV conversion program areas.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  And under part (b), we asked you if you had failure rates for this material because that was cited as one of the -- or the major reason, I believe, why you're ramping up your replacement.  And you provided outage information not for each one, but in total.  And I just note from the years 2012 to 2015 there really -- it doesn't really show an increase in failures. 

So is this program primarily -- did it come into play because of what was going on in 2016? 

MS. BAILEY:  It's an issue we have been aware of for the last several years, other utilities across the province have implemented programs such as this based on failures that they have seen as well in these porcelain and glass insulators.  So it is a program we have been considering and wanting to do under our OM&A programs.

I wouldn't say it has come out of only outage instances that have come in 2016.

MS. GRICE:  Can you let me know what other utilities you know that are doing it this way?

MR. MACE:  Sorry, just for clarification, that have that problem with glass insulators, or are looking to through a program change them out?

MS. GRICE:  Yes, yes.

MS. BAILEY:  I'd want to check for sure before I started listing off utility names, but I know a couple. 

MS. GRICE:  Okay, that's fine, thank you.  I am just interested in -- this application was filed in September of 2016.  When did you decide you wanted to change your insulator program? 

MS. BAILEY:  By change it, you mean? 

MS. GRICE:  Propose the additional spending of 100,000 a year.

MS. BAILEY:  I believe we proposed it in our application in 2013 as well.  It was one of the programs that unfortunately got cut during that process.

MS. GRICE:  Okay. 

MR. MACE:  That's -- I will give you a caveat.  We are relatively sure, but not positive on that. 

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  That's fine, thank you.  If we can please go back to page 11.  I just want to look again at the overhead/underground maintenance section, you show a variance of 405,468, 2013 Board-approved to 2017.  And we have talked about the $100,000 of that being for insulators.

My understanding of the evidence, just reading the next paragraph, is the balance of that increase 300,000, is that for storm work?  Is that what that increase is for?  I am just looking at it, the next paragraph says cost increases --


MR. MACE:  Yeah, again, you would have to look -- if you look at that paragraph on your page 11 starting at line 18, you'd also have to take that in coordination with the first paragraph starting at line 2.  You know, you have linemen and trucks and activity and you allocate them out to your system, and what our management staff have done is predict there will be relatively more maintenance, relatively less operations.  But it's effectively as a total similar with the addition of the $100,000 for the porcelain insulator change-out.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  So is this the line item where we would find your budget for storm activity?  Would it be captured here? 

MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes, that's where it would be captured in the overhead/underground maintenance. 

MS. GRICE:  Yes.  So I was just looking through the evidence, and I couldn't find anything that showed how much was built into your 2013 rate application for storm activity, so your 2013 Board-approved.  Do you know that number?

MS. SPEZIALE:  I don't know the one that's specifically in this program.  But the total, our internal department budget for that was 1.3 million -- oh, sorry, not entirely for storm.

MR. MACE:  Sorry.  Just for clarity, you are looking at what is the storm response budget, what was in 2013 and what was it in 2017? 

MS. GRICE:  Yes, please. 

MS. SPEZIALE:  We don't budget specifically for storms; there is an estimate based on historical.

MS. GRICE:  So do you have an estimate for 2017? 

MR. MACE:  I am not sure that we have a number that is storm.  We -- a portion of our -- the issue with budgeting for storms is, you know, if they happen during the day, they are part of your regular maintenance.  If they happen on overtime, then they are potentially an added cost and they are charged to maintenance.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So you don't have a provision?

MR. MACE:  We don't have a -- when we budget the labour, our management staff budget a placeholder of labour hours to storm.  But we don't total, you know, $400,000 here, I don't believe.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, that's fine, thank you.  I was just asking because I am moving next into tree trimming, and often you look at a forestry budget along with the storm budget because of the tree clean-up that’s done under that activity.

MR. MACE:  It might be helpful -- storm damage and analyzing it is very difficult.  We were very unlucky late last year.  We had a bad storm and it started Friday afternoon.  So normally, if a bad storm starts Monday, a whole lot of your work is done during regular time and it attracts to regular maintenance, and you don't see a big bump in cost.

If it starts on the weekend, you’re calling all your guys, your contractors on the weekend and probably paying premium, and you see a bump in costs.  So it's very hard to rationalize those costs, I guess, year to year. 

MS. GRICE:  Okay, that's great, thank you.  So if we can now -- I just wanted to go back to page 4, just to quickly look at tree trimming.  And we have been over this a few times, but my understanding from the discussion so far today is that the increase in tree-trimming is 200,000, and I guess, is there a caveat with this increase?

MR. MACE:  So, sorry, the amount we are increasing the contract tree-trimming budget by is 150,000.

MS. GRICE:  And then the 50,000 is for the forestry coordinator, and it presumably is higher than in 2013 because that position was vacant for a while.  Is that...

MR. MACE:  Oh, if you are comparing to 2013?

MS. GRICE:  Yes.

MR. MACE:  That would be part of it, yes.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, okay.  So I just want to chat a little bit about tree-trimming, and if we can please go to page 34 of the compendium.  So this was in response to an interrogatory where you provided the seven zones that my understanding would be that matches up with your seven-year clearing cycle?

MS. BAILEY:  For the rural clearing cycle, yes.

MS. GRICE:  So when I looked -- I looked back at your 2013 application, and if you turn to page 35, this was a forestry management program that was filed in that application.  And if you turn to page 36, it states in the first sentence there that:

"Thunder Bay's overhead conductors occupy approximately 869 kilometres."

And then if we turn to page 37, it showed your -- this was your strategy at that time, which was -- and it shows the different areas where you are going to be -- where you have kilometres that is exposed to vegetation, and if I add up 615.3 and 79.9 it comes out to 695.2.

So is that the clearing that is typically then attached to a forestry tree-trimming schedule?

MS. BAILEY:  So this page 37 that you are referring to, your compendium, was written in 2013.  If we could refer to the one that we put together for this cost-of-service application it might be more --


MS. GRICE:  I have, and I was actually going to go there next, so that's fine.

MS. BAILEY:  Okay.

MS. GRICE:  So if we can please turn to page 32 of the compendium.  So how would I relate the 695.2 kilometres that back in 2013 Thunder Bay Hydro indicated was exposed to vegetation?  How do I relate what your strategy is now in terms of the kilometres that you're addressing?

MS. BAILEY:  So I can clarify what we've written here for the clearing cycle just to give you a better understanding of what it means.  So the total length in metres here relates to our, what we'd refer to in the introduction here encompasses -- made up of the density and the kilometres.  So if you add that up, it should add up to the same number.

Now, what we are expecting here is that, of the kilometres of line that Thunder Bay Hydro has, we expect that there is going to be 157,273 metres where it's clear, where there is not going to be necessary forestry operations in those areas.  In the 29,707 metres we expect there will be brushing required.

Furthermore, if you continue down the list, less than 50 percent, more than 50 percent cover, and then more than 75 percent cover, and what we mean by "cover" is how much of the wire is covered by trees.

Does that make sense in terms of what "cover" means?  And so then we related those metres to how many spans, so for us spans -- we calculate the cost per span when we do our forestry budgeting.  So that's why span is relevant here, how many spans we think there are in that total number of length of metres, and then how many spans we can do per day.

So when you are doing something that has significant cover at 75 percent, you cannot cover as many spans per day.  So because the forestry is dense the operations take longer, so you have to set up, and you're cutting trees for a longer period of time.  So you can see that changes in that table here, spans per day, where it's only brushing, you can do three spans per day, at a heavy cover it's only .5 spans per day.

So based on how many spans per day it takes, how many spans we think we have, that's the number of days we expected to be doing forestry operations in those areas.  That's where we came up with the two crews working 261 working days per year equates to seven years.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  So if I wanted to figure out how many kilometres this program involves, would I add up under "total length" the second, third, fourth, and fifth amount of metres?

MS. BAILEY:  Yes, yes.  So in those areas where it's clear we are not going to spend money or time.  However, there may be a section of line where you go with your forestry truck, you do a span, you do brushing, then the next span is clear so you don't expend any cost, you move to the next span.

MS. GRICE:  The reason I am asking about it is because in the 2013 application you had a strategy where you were going to tackle 695 kilometres of line exposed to vegetation, and your annual budget there was $767,000 a year.  And that was based on a ten-year plan, and that's on page 38 of the compendium.

MS. BAILEY:  Okay.  We have, I guess -- as part of our continuing improvement we have learned in the past five years we have better metrics on costs per metre where access is impeded.  So I'd have to take a look at what we had suggested here and what that relates to costs that we are seeing now.  Because costs have increased from our contractor as well we have a better idea of not just of costs for that but also because you have to put flagging on roads in these areas, traffic protection, so the costs may be different in a cost per metre.

And then of course additionally where we are topping
-- where we used to top trees and now we have to take them out at the base, that would increase the cost as well.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  So I just did some quick math here.  So if we look on this page you have got 695.2 kilometres, and your proposal was to spend 600 and -- $767,000 a year, and if you just quickly turn to page 40 of the compendium, the strategy at that time was to spend $720,000 in 2012 on forestry management.  That was the budget.

MS. BAILEY:  I see that.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And then if we can please go back to what's being proposed in this application, which is on page 32.  So I just added up that total length column that we discussed, what numbers would go into that, and I get 210 kilometres being addressed, and the annual budget now is $748,000 a year, but it's a significantly less amount of kilometres you're working on.  So is there something else that's accounting for that dollars per kilometre change?

MS. BAILEY:  I think a couple of things that I have already talked about.  Just getting a better knowledge of how much it costs per span in these rural areas.  So this 2017 plan, as you alluded to in the picture, I think it's on -- perhaps it's not included -- that shows all the rural areas, so those are the areas where the density is high, that cost per kilometre is higher.  We have a better idea of those costs.

In addition, if they are on city property where we are taking them down at the stump rather than topping them, that would also increase costs.

So in terms of the differences in cost and differences in kilometres, hopefully that gives you some idea of why there are some changes there.

MS. GRICE:  I just note the changes seem to be significant, so anyway I will -- that's fine, thank you. 

Now in terms of -- I believe you said in examination-in-chief -- or I am sorry, it was, I believe, in response to Board Staff's cross that you are now, as of 2017, in your seven-year cycle, you are in a seven-year cycle pattern that you have achieved that.

MS. BAILEY:  No that we would start getting to a seven-year cycle.  So if we obtained our cost of service application that we have requested, so we won't -- I think there is -- there may be some --


MS. GRICE:  I am sorry, I misunderstood that, okay.  So what cycle are you on now? 

MR. MACE:  We have been unable to achieve the seven-year cycle basically, given the resources that we have.  So our application, the increase, we believe we will be able to achieve our seven-year rural cycle.

MS. GRICE:  In how many years?

MS. BAILEY:  So in theory in seven years.  So if we get the funding we get in 2017, our test year, the areas that we would clear, we would be able to get back there again in another seven years. 

MS. DUFF:  And your other question, Ms. Grice, was what cycle are you on now?  You are moving to seven from how many years? 

MR. MACE:  So we have been striving for seven, but haven't achieved it.  So if your question is if you look back, how many years has it been since you hit a tree, I don't think we have that information. 

MS. GRICE:  I believe in the last application, you were striving for a seven-year cycle as well, and you predicted it would take you ten years.  My understanding of that evidence is that that should have been hit sort of 2016.  So it seems that you are probably on a longer than ten-year cycle.

MR. MACE:  That wouldn't surprise me.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, okay, thank you.  Now, I just have a question -- sorry, I just need to check my notes to make sure I haven't forgotten anything, sorry. 

MS. DUFF:  Please, do. 

MS. GRICE:  Oh, yes, one last thing.  We were talking about unit costs, and we looked at the unit costs that were provided in the last application in terms of easy to access.

Are you tracking your unit tree trimming costs in terms of clearing dollars per kilometre?  I noted a lot of other utilities are and they are looking at that as a metric, so that they can see over time if costs are coming down, if you are able to do that? 

MS. BAILEY:  Yes, we just started doing that late in 2016. 

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Okay that's great, thanks.  And I just have a question about your survey that you sent out to your customers.  I am sorry this is not in my compendium, but it's in relation to 1-Staff-19, and it's on page 47. 

MS. DUFF:  Its's page 42.

MS. GRICE:  Page 47 of the document, sorry.

MS. DUFF:  Oh, the document. 

MS. GRICE:  Sorry, page 47, please, page 47 of that IR.  There we go, okay. 

So this IR asked for the actual survey that went out to customers and I am just going to read the little -- the two paragraphs.  It says:
 "Moving from 5 to 7 years tree trimming cycle would lower the impact of the program from $0.33 per month to $0.28 per month for the average residential customer.  However, it may also increase the risk of increased outages caused by tree contacts.  Thunder Bay Hydro engineers believe a 5 year program is the right approach to balance the rate increase against the risk of increased outages, but we want to know what you think."


So the question was:
"Would you like to see the tree trimming program done over five years as proposed, or over seven years?"

I just wanted to pause there; I just have a couple quick questions. Can you remind me when this survey was done? 

MR. WILSON:  So this survey is the one that went out in -- I have got that written down here.  Yes, this would have gone out in September of 2016. 

MS. GRICE:  And your application was filed in September of 2016, correct? 

MR. WILSON:  Correct.

MS. GRICE:  So I am just curious why you were asking them about a five-year program. 

MR. MACE:  I am going to say that it's clearly an error.  We have never -- well, in recent memory, have not been to a five-year cycle.  So somewhere it got lost in translation putting together the survey; that's wrong. 

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And then in terms of your proposal for a seven-year cycle, you are not suggesting that based on that cycle, there will be increased outages?  That's not a linkage you want to make then?

MR. MACE:  Sorry, based on our proposed?

MS. GRICE:  You are proposing a seven-year program.  But it just says in this question that if you are on a seven-year program, you can expect an increase in outages. And I just want to make sure you are not making that linkage based on your previous answer? 

MR. WILSON:  No.  And in the actual question, we are not either.  We say it could result, so we are not -- it's a little looser than you are phrasing it. 

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  I am just going to move now to a whole new area.  If we can please turn to page 17 of our compendium, I just wanted to talk a little bit about overtime costs. 

So at the bottom of the page, there is a table that shows the years and the budgeted amount of overtime versus the actuals. 

And if we turn the page, it shows that 2016 actuals were 736,854 and then in 2017, you are proposing 886,781. Can you just explain why you think that significant jump in overtime is needed in 2017?

MS. SPEZIALE:  It's based on power systems labour resource budget, based on the total programs they are looking at, capital and operating, and part of the hours necessary to maintain all of the programs amounted -- is reflected in overtime.

MS. DUFF:  I don't really understand that answer.

MS. GRICE:  No.

MS. DUFF:  I am sorry.  Perhaps you can elaborate?

MR. MACE:  Can I get clarity on the question?

MS. GRICE:  So you have proposed an increase of 150,000 over time, 2016 actuals --


MR. MACE:  From '16 actuals.

MS. GRICE:  -- compared to 2017 proposed.

MR. MACE:  Sure.  I think the answer probably is if you looked at -- overtime is a budget, it's subjective, you estimate best based on historical.  I note that in 2016, we estimated 847.  In 2017, we are estimating 886, which is a lesser increase.  We were under budget in 2016, less overtime call outs, less overtime storm.  You know, it's mostly reactive as compared to controllable.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  And then later on the page on part if you -- you calculate overtime hours in terms of FTEs.  My understanding is a large portion of  that over time is because of unfilled vacancies; is that correct? 

MR. MACE:  I don't think so.  I am not sure how to quantify that answer, but, umm, I would say no.  If you are talking -- let me just make sure we are talking about...  We are talking -- sorry, '16 and '17?

MS. GRICE:  You know what?  I was just speaking in general.  You have got FTE totals for the years 2012 and a proposal for 2017.

MR. MACE:  For overtime in Table F.

MS. GRICE:  For overtime in Table F, and I thought I heard during the proceeding that the overtime FTEs was in part due to unfilled vacancies, staffing positions that weren't filled from the 2013 budget.

MR. MACE:  I am not sure that we said that.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.

MR. MACE:  I mean, there will be, in some instances, if you are under-budget you will have requirements for overtime, but if we're -- sorry, understaffed.  But as a rule if you use, say, the power line department, if you have, you know, two guys on LTD, we don't make up for those two by paying overtime.  So we would supplement -- what we would likely end up doing is taking two bodies off construction, supplementing the capital construction with contractors.

So it would not be our practice where we are short -- now, it may happen in some instances in short periods of time, but as a rule we don't supplement vacancies with overtime.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And so do you on an annual basis -- you are tracking your vacancy dollars, meaning the dollars that are attributable to unfilled vacancies?  So for instance, you -- you know, in 2013 you didn't -- you had a forestry coordinator position that was vacant, and say it was half the year.  Are you tracking -- do you have the data around how many dollars that relates to?

MR. MACE:  We track the time.  So we would know how long a vacancy occurred and at what rate it would have been.  We don't necessarily track the dollars, because they didn't get paid, so they don't get charged anywhere.  You know, it's like, it's possible to reconstruct it and estimate it, but it's not something we track.  I can't lay my hands on, well, show me the value of our vacancies in 2015.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And do you have an HR metric around vacancy, like, a certain vacancy rate that you try to strive to achieve?

MR. MACE:  We have metrics around sick leave, for sure.  We don't have metrics around vacancies.  Obviously we try -- we try to have as few as possible, but, you know, your primary vacancies are people who have left their jobs and been rehired, sick, LTD.  That's the primary vacancies.  So, no, we don't have established metrics around, we shall have this number of vacancies.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  I am just going to check now my notes, make sure I have asked everything.  Yes, I believe I have, thank you.  I am finished, thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Ms. Lea, you had estimated a half an hour.  How much time -- is that still accurate?

MS. LEA:  Twenty minutes or less.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Is it your preference to go now?

MS. LEA:  I am completely in the Board's hands.  We had to go --


[Reporter appeals.]


MS. LEA:  First of all, my estimate is 20 minutes or less.  Secondly, I am in the Board's hands.  I am prepared to go now, but we have been going for an hour and a half, and it may be the witnesses and court reporter need a break.

MR. MACE:  I'd say we are fine for 20 minutes.

MS. LEA:  And then there's Board questions and redirect, so a break at some point will be necessary.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  We have one question, I think, so --


MS. LEA:  Okay.

MS. DUFF:  -- I would rather finish the topic.

MR. VELLONE:  I have no redirect.

MS. DUFF:  Oh, and redirect?

MR. VELLONE:  None.

MS. DUFF:  Oh, I am sorry I didn't ask you.

MR. VELLONE:  That's okay.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  So why don't we try to finish OM&A and then we will --


MS. LEA:  Sure.

MS. DUFF:  -- pat ourselves on the back that we have completed another topic.
Continued Cross-Examination by Ms. Lea:

MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.  Ms. Speziale, earlier today you indicated that there was a small variance in your 2016 actual from your estimated 2016 bridge of $42,000.  Perhaps I misheard, was that a variance up or down?

MS. SPEZIALE:  I am not sure, actually.  I was just checking my notes, and all they say is within 42,000.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  It is immaterial, Madam Chair, but it might be good to know if it's up or down.  Can you let us know by the end of the day or by undertaking?

MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  I think undertaking is fine.  It's a pretty simple answer.

MS. LEA:  That's fine.

MR. VELLONE:  I think we are undertaking to update Table 4-1 with actuals --


MS. LEA:  Okay.

MR. VELLONE:  -- so that's going to get you there --


MS. LEA:  And that will cover it?  Yeah.

MR. VELLONE:  I think that'll get you there.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.

Staff prepared an exhibit with tables on it that I gave to you only this morning, and it relates to the total compensation.  Mr. Vellone, is it acceptable for me to use this in cross-examination at this time?

MR. VELLONE:  Yes, it is.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I wonder if we could give this an exhibit number then.  It will be, of course...  K3.3, thank you.  And K3.3 is Board Staff compensation tables.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.3:  BOARD STAFF COMPENSATION TABLES.

MS. LEA:  And at the same time, I won't be referring to my compendium, but could you please pull up interrogatory 4-Staff-53.  But we will begin with the page of tables that is Exhibit K3.3, which is not yet electronically filed.

So if we look at the management and non-management increases over the years, you will see that we took these numbers from an AMPCO interrogatory, 4-AMPCO-23, and what we did was added up executive and management and called that management non-union, union, and overtime, we called that non-management, and then percentages were calculated for the change year over year.

What we noticed in the first table is that the changeover of 2014 over 2013 for management was about 5 percent.  And for '15 over '14 it was 7.2 percent increases.  At the same time, however, the increases for the non-management staff were 1.69 and .06 percent over those same years.

So beginning in with the -- sorry, one moment -- with the management increases, you indicated in the interrogatory that's before us on the screen, which is 4-Staff-53, that the most significant driver of the differential was the number of FTEs, so that there was an increase in management FTEs from 13 to 15 versus the union FTE decreasing.

Does that explain the contrast in these numbers or is there some other driver besides the FTE numbers?

MR. MACE:  Just for clarity, because I'm -- your middle table, non-management equals non-union plus union?

MS. LEA:  That's right, and overtime.  Would it be easier if we went back to --


MR. MACE:  Oh, okay.  So -- yeah, I am sorry, so we generally refer to some of the non-union as management, but that's...  Yeah.  So what you're -- so they are non-union -- they are non-supervisory, non-union people.

MS. LEA:  Yes.  I am sorry, we started with Table 4-12 in your evidence, and that's where we drew our categories from.

MR. MACE:  Okay.  So just to -- if I could paraphrase your question to make sure I understand it.

MS. LEA:  Please.

MR. MACE:  You are looking at the, say, the 5 percent increase in management from '13 to '14 and --


MS. LEA:  Yes, and also the 7.2 percent from '14 to '15.

MR. MACE:  Okay.  So I will start and I will let Ms. Speziale add to it.  So part of the '13, as we indicated, in '13 we had a -- '13 to '14 we had an engineering manager vacancy for most of the year.  The forestry coordinator?  There was another -- I believe forestry coordinator vacancy was also part of 2013.  We did have some executive team salary adjustments which we have discussed.

Is there anything else in that?  There is nothing else that -- nothing else springs to mind.  There likely are other factors, but those would be the predominant factors.

MS. LEA:  That accounts for the increase also into the 2015 actual of 7.2 percent? 

MR. MACE:  Sorry, just a moment.  I am not sure I am going to be able to lay our hands on the details of the 2014 to '15 quickly.

MS. LEA:  Okay, one moment.  If we look at the interrogatory that's before us, the 4-Staff-53 that's on the screen, you have indicated that the most significant driver of the differential -- and we were talking about the differential '13 through '15 -- was FTEs. 

MR. MACE:  Yeah, so the combination of the engineering manager and the forestry is most of the 1.42. 

MS. LEA:  Okay.  But you are not sure whether the FTE increase also explains the increase between 2014 and 2015; is that how I understand your answer? 

MR. MACE:  I can't be exact.  It would be the FTE increase.  It would be -- I know we had management progressions, so management who were on progression.  Other than that, I can't reconcile it right now.

MS. LEA:  Okay, this's fine, thank you. If we look at the next two years, though, we see that this reverses.  So there's no management, as we have defined it, increase in the bridge year and only 1.8 in the test year. 

If we look at the way we have defined non-management, there is 2.66 increase in the bridge year and an 8.21 percent increase in the test year.

Can you explain the increases in the non-management category, as we have defined it?

MR. MACE:  So two of those non- -- as you have defined non-management, those would include the finance clerk, the system control operator apprentice.  I believe the GIS technician was only partially 2016, so the remainder of the GIS technician.

MS. LEA:  And would the union agreement be part of the test year increase?

MR. MACE:  Well, there would be an increase in each year, so it wouldn't account for a large portion of the variance.

I can tell you that the 2016 bridge year for management also reflects vacancies.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  So the 8.21 increase in non-management, as we have defined it for the test year, is there an explanation for that that you have not yet provided?

MR. MACE:  For the non-management? 

MS. LEA:  Um-hmm, in the test year, 2017.

MR. MACE:  So finance clerk, system control operator, a portion of the GIS technician.

MS. LEA:  And that's between the increase over 2016?

MR. MACE:  '16 to '17, yes.

MS. LEA:  '16 to '17, thank you.  Thanks. Now jumping to something that my friends were looking at, which was interrogatory 4-Staff-51, it's page 44 of the VECC compendium, if that helps you.  It's interrogatory 4-Staff-51. 

We weren't concerned about the content of this interrogatory so much as whether you could update the revenue requirement work form for the various changes in compensation amounts that have occurred through the interrogatory process.

Can we pull up either page 44 of the VECC compendium, please, or 4-Staff-51, however you like to find it best? Thank you.

So you will see that in your response, you indicate that the -- right.  We were wondering -- you indicated that this increase would be provided in the interrogatory process, and then you provide a response. 

What we were looking for was an update to the revenue requirement work form as well.  It's hard for us to actually work on setting rates and getting the number right without that document, without that spreadsheet.  Will you be doing that? 

MS. SPEZIALE:  We can do that. 

MS. LEA:  I am sorry, I didn't hear the answer.

MS. SPEZIALE:  I said we could do that.

MS. LEA:  Thank you. 

MS. SPEZIALE:  Just for clarification, just the revenue, the impact on the revenue amount, not by all the various different programs? 

MS. LEA:  I guess what we need to know is what you're actually requesting in revenue requirement now, with all the updates since the application was filed.

MS. SPEZIALE:  Including this number? 

MS. LEA:  Correct. 

MS. SPEZIALE:  But not broken out between all the different programs?

MS. LEA:  I don't know what the revenue requirement work form looks like.  We are not looking for a breakdown so much as an update, so that we know what your revenue requirement now is.

MR. VELLONE:  So for clarity, the revenue requirement work form, but not the chapter 2 appendices, just RRWF, just that Excel sheet?

MS. DUFF:  It's pretty critical.  We definitely need that as a starting point, so there's not even a question really.  It's the level of detail that would be discussing.

MR. VELLONE:  So shall we mark an undertaking?

MS. DUFF:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  Might as well mark it as an undertaking; that would be J3.4, please.  
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.4:  TO PROVIDE AN UPDATED REVENUE REQUIREMENT WORK FORM


MS. LEA:  And then just a few more questions following up on interrogatory responses that you have kindly provided. 

If we can look at 4-Staff-52, please -- I am sorry, you are going to have to go all the way to the top of 4-Staff-52. 

What you provided here is a MEARIE study.  So we asked you in this interrogatory whether you have ever had a compensation study done, and you provided us with the MEARIE study which looked at a group of LDCs.  We are wondering if you ever had a compensation study done specifically for Thunder Bay Hydro.

MR. MACE:  So in my tenure, we have not done a comprehensive compensation study.  We have on occasion, where we have had issues -- and I referenced earlier, I believe, today issues related to our IT group, our engineering group.

So we have on occasions like that gone out and looked locally and provincially at specific positions, but not on overarching compensation study, no.

MS. LEA:  Do you have plans for such a compensation study, an overarching one for Thunder Bay Hydro?  And if your answer is no, is there a reason you believe that would not be worthwhile?

MR. MACE:  Well, we do benchmark.  So we benchmark our union rates, for example; that information is readily available.  So that would -- I guess it depends how you classify a compensation study.  So we benchmark our power line rates, our system control operator -- our standard rates against utilities on a regular basis, we do that.  I think that already -- so that's already something we do. 

MS. LEA:  And when you say it's readily available, is that something that is public information?

MR. MACE:  Collective agreement results are public information. 

MS. LEA:  Okay. 

MR. MACE:  In addition to that, I believe -- I am not positive, but I believe we have industry information that's circulated based on that public information.

MS. LEA:  And what about management?

MR. MACE:  Management we do review periodically using the MEARIE management survey.

MS. LEA:  But other than that you are not planning on any more comprehensive compensation study?

MR. MACE:  I have no immediate plans.  Our philosophy on that has been if we see issues, if we are having trouble attracting and retaining in specific areas, then we look at that.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  A similar question: In interrogatory 4-Staff-56 -- I am not sure whether you need to pull it up or not -- you indicate that a depreciation or amortization policy document is in the process of being created, and we were wondering what the status of that work was now.

MS. SPEZIALE:  We have not completed that --


MS. LEA:  And --


MS. SPEZIALE:  -- it's still in the process.

MS. LEA:  And do you have a time frame for completion of it?

MS. SPEZIALE:  We don't have a time frame set, but we do have a plan to have it done this fiscal year.

MS. LEA:  This fiscal year.

MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  Thank you, one moment, please.

Thank you very much, those are my questions.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Thanks, Ms. Lea.  Mr. Pastirik.
Questions by the Board:

MR. PASTIRIK:  Just, yes, I just had one question.  It's just a bit of a follow-up from a discussion earlier today that Mr. Shepherd had raised, and the question was around, in your evidence you had identified -- or in efficiency savings of about $1.2 million that you have achieved, and there was a little bit of confusion in terms of what period that covered and just what that covered.

I am just wondering if you can take the opportunity just to tell us a little bit more about what those efficiencies were.  It doesn't all have to all add up to exactly 1.2, but just to give us an idea of what they were and kind of how they are reflected in your numbers.

MR. MACE:  So maybe I will start, and I will let Mr. Wilson take over.

MR. PASTIRIK:  Okay.

MR. MACE:  So I think it's important to note that we don't as a program track efficiency savings.

MR. PASTIRIK:  I recognize it's difficult.

MR. MACE:  Well, it's -- frankly, it's one of the -- it would be a bit of a bureaucratic nightmare and an added expense that I want to avid, but when you make a decision and you determine that, well, this is the more economical way to go or this is more efficient, we tend to just do it.

So when Mr. Wilson has outlined examples of efficiency savings, they are really that.  They are a partial list.  For example, I believe one of the numbers was, we are very proud of the collective agreements that we have entered into for a number of cycles now, and if you estimated, you know, if we hadn't been that effective with those collective agreements, that's a significant amount of money that we have saved.

So I will let Mr. Wilson talk a little more about the specific examples, but they are a selection of examples of, I am going to say highlights of efficiencies.  It's certainly not a comprehensive list.  I'd like to think that we try to make efficient decisions all the time.

MR. PASTIRIK:  Right.  But even in terms of, you know, any savings resulting or benefits you've seen as an organization from investments in certain technologies or those types of things.

MR. WILSON:  Right.  So I -- you are correct.  In my opening statements I didn't reference them, and so these are sprinkled throughout but, I mean, there's a number of them in Exhibit 1 through pages 17 to 31.  So that's -- there's probably about six or seven in there.

So for example, we had some website efficiencies that we put in place.  In particular, one would be their outage amount that we make mention of in the application.

MR. PASTIRIK:  Right.

MR. WILSON:  Significant uptake on customer usage of that technology, which arguably drastically decreases the numbers of calls that would come into the call centre and system control during an outage situation.

We talk about phone system replacement.  That was about $70,000 in savings.  We were able to eliminate trunk lines coming into our admin building, got on to, like, an IP-based phone system, which also allowed us to have some dual redundancy over to our ops centre so that, in the case of a catastrophic failure at the admin site, we can still continue to accept customer calls during, you know, unforeseen circumstance, bad situations.

The -- about 200,000 in permanent savings reductions from the smart metering system, no need for meter readers, so, you know, we were able to realize that.  Bill print cost savings.  We went out for an RFP process, and we are very happy to come back and be able to save about $110,000 a year on bill print costs itself, switching provider.

And then within some of the interrogatories there's some more.  You know, better usage of the GIS system, allowing staff to not have to do field visits, so we think about, you know, 54-, $55,000 in savings there, system control, using the SCADA system more effectively, or building reports.  System control and customer service using the AMI system, the automated meter reading system, for things like voltage checks, checking to see if a customers -- so a customer calls in and says, 'My power's out.'  Well, we can check that.  We can ping the meter from the system, so we have put that out to some staff as well now so that we can eliminate the need to roll trucks.

So there is a number of these throughout the application.  Certainly the big one is the labour savings on the, you know, below-industry average.  The list goes on but, I mean, they are there.

Is that enough information for you?

MR. PASTIRIK:  Yes, that's helpful, yes, thanks very much.  One other quick thing that I will just mention as well, and I know, Ms. Speziale, you are going to give us an update of what the actual 2016 OM&A is, and I don't have the reference at my fingertip right now, but I think in Mr. Shepherd's -- one of his he had a total -- 2016 actual that he maybe has picked up somewhere, and it was different by more than 42,000, so you may want to just cross-check that when you do provide that updated number just to be sure that it's -- the record is clear on that.

MR. VELLONE:  Do you remember which reference Mr. Shepherd made?

MR. PASTIRIK:  Yes, it was his schedule.  I can probably find that pretty quickly.  It was that schedule that he was referring to with the Aiken formula.  I think that's the page that it was on.

MR. VELLONE:  So page 62 of the SEC compendium?

MR. PASTIRIK:  Yes.  It is, so it's page 62 of his compendium, and you can see he's got a -- it looks like he has got actual spending of 15 million-296, which would be a difference of more than 42,000 from what the number is that was in the budget, but I just wanted to raise that just again so the record is clear.

MR. VELLONE:  I apologize, I don't see 15,296.

MR. PASTIRIK:  15,296 under the actual spending for 2016.  Right at the bottom.

MR. VELLONE:  We can mark an undertaking to reconcile that if you would like.

MR. PASTIRIK:  Yeah, or even just to check it.  I mean, Ms. Speziale is going to provide us with the actual final number, so that's good.

MR. VELLONE:  That's probably easier.

MR. PASTIRIK:  Okay.  Great, that's all I have.

MR. MACE:  Yeah, I'm sorry, just, I don't believe he would have seen any actuals, so I am not sure where that is, but we will --


MR. PASTIRIK:  I was kind of wondering the same thing --


MR. MACE:  -- yeah, but we'll see --


MR. PASTIRIK:  Okay.  Great.  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Any redirect, Mr. Vellone, on OM&A?

MR. VELLONE:  No, Madam Chair.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Let's take our 15-minute break.  Does the panel want a little bit longer, or is that okay?

MR. VELLONE:  15 is fine.

MS. DUFF:  15 is fine?  Okay.  We will break until twenty to.  Thank you very much.
--- Recess taken at 3:22 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:42 p.m.

MS. DUFF:  Please be seated.  The last topic was capital, but I did want to go back to the question I had with witnesses regarding the capital expenditures, so if I could just finish that.

When we came back from lunch, you had a partial answer. I still would like the answer, if you could -- you understood took to do it; that would be great, Ms. Speziale It was a project started in 2016.  I don't care when the end date is, but the ones started in 2016 and just the percentage of completion.

And the question I had that I did ask and I have got the transcript in front of me here, because I have the benefit of that, it's just I wanted to know when you got the asset condition assessment, was there anything that you stopped doing, stopped doing in 2016 or 2017?  That is really still uncertain in my mind of what the answer is. 

I know that you added projects because of your asset condition assessment, but did you stop or halt a project? 

MR. MACE:  So if it's helpful now, we can add a little bit to that.

MS. DUFF:  That's great.  That's what I would hope, thank you.

MS. BAILEY:  Okay.  So I think what we did is we changed the plans.  So when we received the asset condition assessment, we keep a five-year rolling plan with what we expect projects to be out.  So when we received that, we changed out some of those 4 kV plans that we had incorporated into 2017 for 25 kV projects or underground.

MS. LEA:  I am sorry, I didn't hear.  When you said you changed the 4 kV projects, for which year did you begin to change them?

MS. BAILEY:  So we changed them for the 2017 test year, so planned projects.  So they weren't projects that were necessarily started.  They were started in the sense that they had had a design, we had a plan to do them in '17.  But we hadn't actually started construction on them. 

And then we can provide further clarification and a full answer for you.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, fine, thank you.  I am not familiar with all the different steps obviously.

MR. MACE:  Effectively, there were additional 4 kV projects originally contemplated for 2017 which were eliminated in favour of the 25 kV project.  So you don't see those now, because they are not on the list for 2017.

MS. DUFF:  That’s just how active your prioritization is, right?  So you have a prioritization list for the year  and, oh, we have new information, so do you go back to it? 
I understand the project was approved, you have your scope, all the good justifications for why we are going to proceed with the project.  But do you revisit it --


MR. MACE:  Yes.  So we did as part of the revisit, as part of the shift towards more 25 kV less 4 kV, 4 kV projects fell off the list.  So you don't see them now, but they are gone and replaced by spending amounts in the 25 kV.

MS. DUFF:  And just one small question.  We keep on referring to this page.  It's 143 in your distribution supply plan, you know, on the right-hand side the overall priority one.  Are all of these projects – they’re expenditures in 2017.  Are they going to go into rate base in 2017?  Will they be completed?  It doesn't really indicate that in the description.

MS. BAILEY:  No, it doesn't.  So Black Bay-Dewe and Dewe Rita, those project wills be complete, so we are finishing those right now. 

Durbin Brodie is a full project for this year, I believe, as well as Finlayson Brodie.  MacDougall Court and Donald Mountdale, those are projects beginning in this year and will remain work in progress and we will complete them in 2018.

MS. DUFF:  That's about a million for those two?

MS. BAILEY:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much.  That was all the question we had.  Okay, great.

So we will proceed now with cost of capital, and Ms. Lau.

MS. LAU:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  And I would like to enter as an exhibit the VECC compendium related to the issue of cost of capital. 

MS. LEA:  K 3.4, please.  
EXHIBIT NO. K3.4:  VECC COMPENDIUM (COST OF CAPITAL)
Continued Cross-Examination by Ms. Lau:


MS. LAU:  I just have a couple of quick questions for you; the first is actually a clarification.  In Thunder Bay Hydro's January 30th, 2017, responses to interrogatories, it provided two tables, one in response to 5-VECC-39 and one in response to 5-VECC-40, which can be found at pages 4 to 5 of our compendium.  And they relate, I believe, to the cost of your long-term debt.

These two tables are different.  Is one -- which one is accurate? 

MS. SPEZIALE:  I believe that the -- I will check in one moment, but the 2.05 weighted average debt is the most up to date. 

MR. VELLONE:  Sorry, so I understand, we are asking which of the tables in 5-VECC-39 and 5-VECC-40 are correct? 

MS. LAU:  Yes, there is a different cost of long-term debt that's provided.

MR. VELLONE:  So 5-VECC-40, if I am reading the question right, they are asking the utility to use certain numbers.  They are telling the utility what numbers to put in. 

MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes, if you go to the model in the revenue requirement work form, the most recent one is the 2.73.

MS. DUFF:  Has this promissory note been executed yet?

MS. SPEZIALE:  The note -- the financing has been put in place.  Actually, we will be receiving it on Tuesday.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, great, thanks. 

MR. VELLONE:  There are two notes; have both been put in place?  There were two financings, right?

MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Are both put in place?

MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes, they are.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you. 

MS. LAU:  And so are these numbers now accurate, sorry, if we are looking at 5-VECC-39, then? 

MS. SPEZIALE:  The rate is now 3.38 percent. 

MR. MACE:  For the new notes.

MS. SPEZIALE:  For the new debt.

MS. DUFF:  For both of them? 

MS. SPEZIALE:  Correct. 

MS. LAU:  And I apologize because I am unfamiliar with this, but does that change the number at the bottom there, the 2.05?

MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes, that will change the number.

MR. VELLONE:  I am going to volunteer an undertaking. Should we update the weighted average cost of debt to reflect the actual notes that have been issued?  I think I’m going to try to speed this up.

MS. DUFF:  We are getting the revenue requirement redone, so I guess that would be the appropriate place to have it in there.

MS. LEA:  Just in the revenue requirement work form then, or as a separate undertaking, Mr.  Vellone?  I think it would be useful as a separate undertaking.

MR. VELLONE:  I think it would as well.

MS. LEA:  Thank you, that would be J3.5.  
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.5:  TO PROVIDE AN UPDATE TO THE WEIGHTED AVERAGE COST OF DEBT TO REFLECT THE ACTUAL NOTES THAT HAVE BEEN ISSUED

MS. LAU:  Okay, thank you. Thunder Bay Hydro is requesting a full return on equity in this application; is that right? 

MS. SPEZIALE:  That is correct.

MS. LAU:  Okay.  And turning to page 12 of our compendium, this provides the graph of customer priorities. How does your request align with the customer priorities identified here? 

MR. WILSON:  So what I would like to do is give a little bit more fulsome information.  This table that you are referring to here was at the very beginning of the survey where customers were asked to rate the priority of factors.  And then they went through a series of open-ended discussions with the customers through the one-on-one interviews.  Then questions were put back to these individuals and, in turn, actually, the online survey was created.


And I think it's important to look at, there's four questions that the customer gets asked in the online survey.  So this is in, for reference, Attachment 1-K in Exhibit 1.  And I am specifically referring to page 23 of the report the decision partners produced for us.  I am also referring to page 29, as well as 64 and, finally, 67.


So if I hear your question correctly, how do we take customer priorities into account.  So it's these additional questions that get asked that shed light on that.  The first question on page 23, customers are asked about the criticality of system renewal.  And customers responded.  There's two sets of -- there's two data sets in here.  There's the web survey results, where we had in combination of very critical and somewhat critical, which was where the vast majority of the responses are, those add up to a little over 80 percent.  The one-on-one interviews that we did with customers, it's closer to 90 percent on that question.  Do you follow?  Okay.


MS. LAU:  Yes.


MR. WILSON:  So then on page 29 another question is asked, which is the appropriateness of system renewal investments.  And here again two data sets, the web survey, which is the dark bar, and then the one-on-one interviews, which is that hashed one.


For the web survey results, for very appropriate and somewhat appropriate we are getting in the neighbourhood of close to 70 percent, saying very appropriate or somewhat appropriate, and the one-on-one interviews we are sitting around 70 percent.


We also ask another question on page 43, which is the appropriateness of system service and system access investment.  And we have, again, those two data sets where we have very appropriate, somewhat appropriate for the web survey, coming in at a total of about 70 percent again if you added those up, and the one-on-one interviews coming in at about 80 percent.


And then we close off with the appropriateness of the overall investment on page 64 of this report.  We are very appropriate and somewhat appropriate for the web survey totals, just over 70 percent again, and the one-on-one interviews are over 80 percent.


And then at the end we go back to customers to rate the level of confidence in Thunder Bay Hydro, and I will read it here:

"To continue to do a good job with providing safe, reliable, cost-effective electricity by implementing the investments associated with the DSP."

And the confidence in Thunder Bay Hydro for the web-survey folks, high degree of confidence, at around above 45 percent, medium degree of confidence for that same group of customers, around 35, and for the one-on-one interviews, high degree of confidence, 70 percent, and medium degree of confidence of around 25.  Does that answer your question?


MS. LAU:  I suppose I am wondering whether you had communicated your request for a full ROE to your customers specifically?


MR. WILSON:  In these two -- in the one-on-one survey and the online survey, we communicated, I believe it was an approximate number of about three-and-a-half percent year over year for them to consider when they are answering these questions.


MS. DUFF:  Three percent what?


MR. WILSON:  Three-and-a-half percent increase --


MS. DUFF:  In?


MR. WILSON:  -- in -- in the system renewal portion --


MS. BAILEY:  That was on the system renewal account, so costs that would be associated with expenditures in system renewal.


MS. LAU:  Okay.  So capital expenditures then?


MS. BAILEY:  That's right.


MS. LAU:  Okay.  But not specifically on your request for a return on equity, a full return on equity?


MR. WILSON:  No.


MS. LAU:  Okay.  So you don't have a -- do you have an idea of how your customers -- you don't have an idea of how your customers reacted to that or would react to that?


MR. WILSON:  In the third engagement --


MR. MACE:  Here, let me, sorry.  So I think your original question was related to the -- your table on page 12, how our requests to go to a full return on equity aligns with customer interests, if I remember correctly?


MS. LAU:  Yes, that was my original question --


MR. MACE:  So I would say, looking at the first two certainly, ensuring reliable service, we are doing that by investing in our system, and we have talked about our capital investment and why we are doing it.


Keeping distribution rates as low as possible even though we are filing for a full allowed rate of return, we have a significantly lower weighted average cost of debt.  As a result our weighted average cost of capital as a utility is much lower than most utilities in Ontario, if not all, but most utilities.


So in that manner, we are both investing in infrastructure in order to ensure reliability and through our shareholder declaration, which talks about a rate minimization model, for a shareholder forgoing their debt service they are keeping rates low.  So I think we are balancing customer interests.


MS. LAU:  Okay.  So you have kind of taken the results of your customer engagement and their views on system reliability and rates into your regulatory request for a full ROE, but it wasn't specifically asked to customers?


MR. MACE:  Oh, I don't -- I am not sure if -- that's not what you asked the first time, so I am not sure what you are asking now, but my response is that we are balancing customer priorities in terms of reliable service and keeping distribution rates low, and I think we have demonstrated that throughout the last two days.


MS. LAU:  Okay, thank you.  Those are all my questions, Madam Chair.

Continued Questions by the Board:

MS. DUFF:  I have a few questions.


What other debt financing options did you consider?  So I will be -- get right to the chase.  TD Bank, you have had a credit facility agreement with them since July of 2009.  Did you go to them and ask them for more debt as a financing option?


MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes, we went out with an RFP for the financing, and we received a response from the TD as well.


MS. DUFF:  But the amount that -- the quantum, actually, that you've achieved or retained in your promissory note, the one that's just recently been signed, could you have asked for more money than the 2.7 million?  Borrow 5 million.  I mean, you are having a credit -- you need to finance your capital expenditures.  You have a need for money.


MR. MACE:  Yes.


MS. DUFF:  What are your options and what did you investigate in terms of the least-cost option for your utility?


MR. MACE:  So we did balance and we undertook a longer-term -- a financial worksheet where it talks about  -- and I talked about it briefly before -- meeting our banking covenants, and one of the issues we have is because we had historically earned at less than our full rate of return our net income is relatively lower.


When we did our analysis, the option of borrowing more and earning less brings us up against banking covenants in later years, where we would not be earning enough net income to --


MS. DUFF:  You're a regulated utility.  We are resetting your rates every five years.


MR. MACE:  No, but in year 5 even.  So there is an issue -- there was an issue, if you shift your debt equity ratio too much and we kept our return on equity low and didn't earn enough net income, you don't meet the net income threshold for the borrowers.  There is a risk of that.  That partially drove our request.


MS. DUFF:  And did you present those options to your board of directors?


MR. MACE:  We discussed them, certainly.


MS. DUFF:  So right now the deemed debt ratio the Board allows for your rates is 60 percent for your debt, 56 percent long-term, 4 percent, and that's just an average.  It's a deemed rate for any utility, and that results in, based on what you proposed, is $67 million, but you don't have $67 million of debt.  You have much lower amount.


Did you consider matching your own financing, or working towards that?  Rather than financing that through your equity at 9 percent, you could have gone -- what was it?  We just updated it; it was three-point-something, 3.39.  That would seem to be a lower cost of financing.

MS. SPEZIALE:  The way our financing model works, borrowing more -- just give me a second. 

MS. DUFF:  Yes, go ahead. 

MR. VELLONE:  Madam Chair, if I may, and this may help or not help clarify the situation.  But when a utility attempts to figure out their financing structure, management is figuring out how to finance the utility, it does differ than how the board sets rates using these models. 

And the key difference is if a utility borrows $60 million, they have to pay interest on that right away and then that money is not available to spend on other operating expenses.  And that reality is actually not kind of factored into the rate setting model that we are having here so when management is deciding their financing plan.

MS. DUFF:  Yes, thank you for the math.

MR. VELLONE:  Yes, sorry. 

MS. DUFF:  So did you consider increasing your debt higher than the 52 million?  Is it because your debt covenants with your existing credit facilities prevent you from doing that?

MS. SPEZIALE:  Yes.  If we increase, we look at the total debt, total forecasted net income, do a cash flow projection and increasing the debt, regardless of the actual percentage, will bring us close to the covenants in the fourth year, and there is a reason.

MS. DUFF:  So if the Board denies the 9 percent that you have asked for, if we just approve the 7 percent, what are you going to do?  You are not going to be able to borrow any more money?  How are you going to finance because you won't have the revenue then, either. 

MS. SPEZIALE:  If you didn't --


MS. DUFF:  If you don't earn your 9 percent, what you will you do?

MR. MACE:  So we would have to revisit those options about debt, which I think we have an issue with.  I don't know what the alternative would be right now.  The alternative would be creating more cash flow through changing expenditures, but I am not sure how that would work. 

MS. DUFF:  So no one did any sensitivity analysis regarding your options here if the Board doesn't approve the 9.19 percent? 

MR. MACE:  Yes, we did run scenarios.  We were at 7, so we ran scenarios with the predicted capital spending, the predicted earnings at 7 percent, predicted earnings at 8 percent, predicted earnings at 9 percent.  At 7 percent at the requested capital investment, we predict that we run up against those banking covenants relatively early. So in that case, we would have to change something. 

So the 9 percent allows us to -- keeping in mind that we are a little gun-shy with revenue because we have a history of under revenue, of not earning what we think we are going to earn.  So we like to be a little conservative in that financial model. 

Our view of not going for the full rate of return is that it injected a fair amount of risk in that, that we would have to deal with at some point if a revenue didn't go through, spending profitability wasn't appropriate. 

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you.  Those are our questions.  Okay, that's great.  Any redirect, Mr. Vellone?

MR. VELLONE:  No. 
Procedural Matters:


MS. DUFF:  Okay, we have established the dates for submissions.  Do we need to set a procedural order for that Ms. Lea? 

MS. LEA:  Yes, we will prepare a procedural order for your signature to issue.

MS. DUFF:  I think the point is if anybody is not here or somehow missed the transcript, they shouldn't be at a disadvantage.  The procedural order will go on the website.

Okay, thank you very much.  Two very long days.  The Board is very appreciative of your time and the fact you had to come back twice.

Thank you, Mr. Tsimberg, very interesting and nice to meet you.  And this Panel is -- the hearing is adjourned.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:07 p.m.
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